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CHAIRMAN’S LETTER 

Dear Shareholder 

2020 has been an extraordinary year on so many fronts. Many of you will have been personally affected by the bushfires and 

again by COVID-19. It is a truly challenging situation for individuals, communities, and companies as we all attempt to navigate 

the new normal. I join with all of you in wishing we all work together to find a path forward as we look to 2021. 

 

As many of you would know I too am long-term Magnetite Mines Limited shareholder. I took the role of Executive Chairman 

a little over two years ago with the immediate goals of creating and maximising value for shareholders and reinvigorating the 

development strategy for the Razorback Iron Project (Project). I am pleased to report your Company is moving in the right 

direction. As I write the Company’s market capitalisation has moved from around $4 million to $27 million, we have a large 

cohort of new and engaged shareholders and a clear path and strategy to production. 

 

Your Company is financially sound after strong support from existing and new shareholders during the year and we have 

made great progress in defining an effective and efficient development pathway to bring the Project into production. 

 

South Australia is a longstanding iron ore producer – in fact, it is the birthplace of Australia’s iron ore industry and has been 

mined continuously for far longer than the Pilbara. While the Pilbara has been the mainstay of global iron ore supply in the 

last fifty years, the Braemar is a significant part of Australia’s remaining iron ore endowment. If we unlock the mineral riches 

of the Braemar, we unlock long term, sustainable value for shareholders, local communities, the State and Australia. 

 

Steel production and therefore demand for our product is running at all-time highs, with China alone producing at annual rates 

around 1billion tonnes of steel (and each tonne of steel produced requires about 1.6 tonnes of iron ore). At Magnetite Mines, 

we have been long term commentators about the positive supply and demand trends in iron ore, particularly that demand and 

supply are far more tightly matched than analysts often credit, with limited new supply, especially of higher grades of iron ore.  

More and more people are sharing our vision that market conditions are ripe for the Project. 

 

Environmental, economic and technical factors lead us to believe that the high grade, low impurity magnetite concentrate we 

plan to produce from the Project positions us well for the future iron ore and steel industry needs. 

 

It is important to remember that we have a completed Pre-feasibility Study (PFS) and subsequent optimized PFS from 2013 

that looked at the Razorback Iron Project as a large, bulk mining operation focused on scale. This offered a viable, though 

higher capex, path forward, but also delivered a rich data set we continue to advantageously draw on. 

 

Last year, the board took the view that taking advantage of the Project’s unique project characteristics of virtually zero strip 

ratio, proximity to rail, ports, infrastructure, and workforce and unlocking real value for shareholders meant moving the Project 

to a nimble, low capex swift to market operation. I’m pleased to report we have made substantial progress on this vision, with 

a completed scoping study and some exciting developments as we continue on the PFS of this small scale, and importantly, 

low capital start-up option for the Project. 
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I would like to highlight three features of our approach that we are undertaking as we work to deliver a clear and compelling 

value proposition for development, accelerated by our bolstered capital position: 

• Technical rigour and innovation. Our work is founded on a sound understanding of our resource and setting, identification 

of value drivers and application of best practice techniques. 

• Staging and front-end loading. We are committed to systematic risk reduction, continued value optimisation and staged 

studies and development as this will make the best use of money that shareholders invest with us.  By front end loading 

the project, we will systematically refine project definition and enhance shareholder returns.  

• Shareholder support. Our vision is to deliver shareholder value by bringing the Project into production., 

 

In the last few months, we have been investigating the applicability of selective mining, we have commenced a rigorously 

scoped PFS and we have offered all shareholders the chance to invest in our future journey together.  We are excited by the 

potential we are seeing in our studies and the strong support from our shareholders. 

 

In the last year, we bolstered the team significantly with Mark Eames joining the Board.  Mark is the former head of iron ore 

assets for Glencore, with experience at BHP and Rio Tinto.  Mark has been helping to drive the internal review, re-evaluation 

and subsequent scoping study of the project and its metrics. Marks iron ore experience couples strategically with our other 

board member Mal Randall. Mal had 20 years with Hamersley Iron (Rio Tinto) and was the founding chairman of Iron Ore 

Holdings. 

 

During this past year, the team has been further strengthened in its expertise with the addition of Richard Harmsworth, former 

head geologist at Rio Tinto’s iron ore operations, and Kerry Whitby of MBGS and his team. Both Richard and Kerry bring 

invaluable expertise and belief to the Project and we are thrilled to have them onboard as we rapidly expand our knowledge 

of the selective mining opportunities at Razorback. 

 

During the latter part of 2020 we have benefited from a significant re-rating in our market value. Thanks again in large part to 

the ongoing support of our shareholders who have backed us to deliver on Razorback’s value. On the value front it is worth 

noting that despite this re-rating Magnetite Mines still has one of the lowest ratios of market capitalisation to insitu tonne of 

any company in the iron ore space. 

 

Your Company owns 100% of the Razorback Iron Project which is an important advantage.  While we continue in discussion 

with various groups and open to partnerships, we are focused on generating value, and any partnerships must make good 

commercial sense for shareholders. 

 

Thank you again for your support as we continue the Razorback journey and deliver value for all stakeholders. 

 

Yours sincerely, 

 

Peter Schubert 

Executive Chairman
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 

Summary of Activities 

Magnetite Mines Limited (Company) is a mineral exploration development Company and owner of the large South Australian 

Razorback Iron Project (Project) and Ironback Hill Project. With a global resource of 3.9 billion tonnes of JORC (2012) 

compliant Inferred to Indicated resources1 the Company has 100% ownership of exceptionally large iron ore deposits in 

South Australia. During the reporting period the Company has focussed on the development of its flagship Razorback Iron 

Project following a positive Scoping Study published in late 20192 and has now commenced a Pre Feasibility Study (PFS)3 

on the Project. The Company is following a methodical, evidence-based approach to a low-cost, low-tonnage mining 

development for the Project. 

 

Figure 1. The Razorback Iron Project forming a prominent outcropping ridge. 

The Company is exploring optimised pathways to production that leverage off existing infrastructure and maturing 

technologies. The work is based on the considerable drilling, metallurgical and mining database already defined in past 

studies, to develop the Project’s pathway to production. A number of key activities have been undertaken during the reporting 

period to progress the Razorback Iron Project. These include: 

• Scoping Study – Completed in late 2019, a scoping study to investigate low-capital, low tonnage start-up options at 

the Razorback Iron Project.2 
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The study concluded that: 

• A small scale, staged operation producing high grade concentrate from a lower capital initial operation is the 

preferred mining development option 

• Low angle, outcropping mineralisation allows for open cut mining at low stripping ratios and limited pre-strip 

• Staged approach to mining defined within previously defined geological resources 

• Established transport related infrastructure is the preferred approach to deliver the Project’s high grade iron 

product to the market. 
 

• Pre-Feasibility Study – Following the results of the Scoping Study, the board resolved to initiate a Pre Feasibility 

Study (PFS) to assess a staged, low tonnage mining scenario for the Project.3 The PFS is currently underway and 

within the reporting period the following milestones were met: 

• Expert advisors McElroy Bryan Geological Services Pty Ltd and Mr. Richard Harmsworth were engaged to 

undertake geological modelling of the Project towards testing selective mining scenario and advisory services 

respectively. 

• Geometallurgical and trial mining review and studies to characterise the ore deposits were initiated to aid in PFS 

development. 
 

• Ore Sorting – An investigation into the applicability of NextOre Pty Ltd’s (Next Ore) on-belt Magnetic Resonance ore 

sorting solution was completed.4 The results of the study included: 

• The heterogeneity of the Razorback and iron peak resources allows for the potential significant upgrading of 

ore using the NextOre system. 

• By implementing this technology as part of the development of the project and by increasing mining rates and 

pre-concentrating the plant feed, the throughput of a given plant capacity could be increased by approximately 

40%, creating significant savings in capital and operating costs per tonne of concentrate product. 

 

 

          Figure 2: Schematic diagram of NextOre’s ore sorting system.
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• Environmental – Environmental compliance through rehabilitation is ongoing at the Project 
 
References: 
1. ASX Announcement – 20/11/18 – Ironback Hill Deposit – JORC 2012 Resource Update 
2. ASX Announcement – 07/11/19 – Positive Razorback Scoping Study Results 
3. ASX Announcement – 18/06/20 – Commencement of PFS and Appointment of Expert Advisors 
4. ASX Announcement – 11/12/19 – Ore Sorting Update – Technical Release 

Corporate  
The Company continues to proactively market the Razorback Iron Project (Project). During the reporting period several 

significant corporate milestones were achieved by the Company. As a result of marketing efforts and in spite of COVID-19 

restrictions, the Company has attracted a farm-in partner through Braemar Mining Developments Pty Ltd and successfully 

raised capital to progress the Project. A summary of corporate activities is given below: 

• Farm In – A farm-in proposal was received from Braemar Mining Developments Pty Ltd (BMD) during the reporting 

period.1,2 BMD, a company founded by the RFC Ambrian Group Limited agreed in principle on the material terms of a 

farm-in offer and executed a non-binding term sheet with the Company. On 15 June 2020, the Company and BMD 

agreed in principle on the material terms of the farm-in offer and executed a non-binding term sheet with BMD. 

 

The farm-in offer is conditional on BMD completing a capital raising of $5 million within 4 months of the parties executing 

the non-binding term sheet (Capital Raising) and BMD entering into a formal Farm-in agreement, for which detailed 

terms and conditions are to be negotiated between the parties. 

 

• Convertible Note – During the reporting period the Company entered into a Heads of Agreement (HOA) with the 

liquidators of Mintech resources Pty Ltd (Mintech) to amend the terms and face value of the redeemable convertible 

notes as held by Mintech.3 These amended terms were subsequently approved by the Mintech Creditors and which 

resulted in a reduction in the face value of the Notes and agreement to certain offsets to which the company is entitled 

and by incorporating and deferring payments due.4 
 

Pursuant to the HOA, the parties agreed to adjust the face value of the Notes by agreeing to certain offsets to which 

the Company is entitled and by incorporating and deferring payments due and have agreed to make the following 

changes to the Notes:  

 Existing terms Amendments 

Maturity Date: 31 August 2019 31 August 2023 

Interest: 7% per annum 5% per annum 

Face value: $2,500,000 $1,975,000  

 

• Management Changes – Strategic Advisor to the Company, Mr Mark Eames was appointed as a Non-Executive 

director on 11 March 2020. Mr Eames has a successful track record in the global minerals industry having previously 

worked in the field of exploration, evaluation, development, acquisitions operations and marketing. His extensive 

experience is highlighted by senior corporate management roles held within the iron ore businesses of Glencore, Rio 

Tinto and BHP.5 
 

Subsequent to the reporting period, Mr Frank DeMarte resigned as a director of the Company on 31 July 2020.
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• Capital Raising – During the reporting period the Company undertook 2 capital raisings: 

• October 2019 – A Share Purchase Plan (SPP) to raise $413,000 (before costs)6,7 

• March 2020 - Renounceable pro-rata rights issue (Rights Issue) and private placement to raise $1.281 million 

(before costs)8,9 
 

• Issue of Renounceable Rights Issue Prospectus - On the 4 September 2020 the Company announced a 

renounceable pro rata offer to eligible shareholders of one (1) new share for every four (4) shares held on the record 

date at an issue price of $0.01 per new share, together with one (1) attaching quoted option for every two (2) new 

shares subscribed for (exercisable at $0.05 each on or before 29 October 2021), to raise approximately $5.65 million. 

The Rights Issue is partially underwritten by Mahe Capital Pty Ltd for an amount of $4,000,000. The Rights Issue closes 

at 5:00pm (WST) on Tuesday, 29 September 2020. 

References: 
1. ASX Announcement – 15/04/20 – Receipt of Proposal for Razorback Iron Project Farm-In 
2. ASX Announcement – 15/06/20 – Update on Razorback Farm-In Offer 
3. ASX Announcement – 04/09/19 – Redeemable Convertible Notes Update 
4. ASX Announcement – 12/11/19 – Mintech Creditors Approve Amended Terms of Convertible Notes 
5. ASX Announcement – 11/03/20 – Appointment of Non-Executive Director 
6. ASX Announcement – 28/10/19 – 2019 Share Purchase Plan 
7. ASX Announcement – 06/12/19 – Results of the Share Purchase Plan 
8. ASX Announcement – 23/03/19 – Renounceable Rights Issue 
9. ASX Announcement – 23/04/20 – Results of Renounceable Rights Issue & Private Placement  
10. ASX Announcement – 05/09/20 – Renounceable Rights Issue to Raise Up To $5.65 Million, Underwritten to $4 Million 

The Razorback Iron Project 

The Razorback Iron Project (Project) is a magnetite iron ore deposit capable of producing a high grade iron ore concentrate 

product for use in steel production.1 The Project is 100% owned and operated by the ASX listed Magnetite Mines Limited 

(ASX:MGT). 

 

  

Figure 3. Razorback Ridge Prospect looking south-east.
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With a defined JORC resource of 3.9Bt Iron Ore, the Razorback Iron Project consists of two very large magnetite iron ore 

deposits, the Razorback2 and the Ironback Hill3 deposits hosted in the Braemar Iron Formation. It is located 240 NE of 

Adelaide, South Australia, near the regional town of Yunta in arid, low intensity pastoral country.  

 

The large resource base is held within five 100% owned and operated tenements EL 6353, 6126, 6127, 6037 and EL5902 

totalling 1,690 square kilometers. The Project is situated 45km from open-user rail, 100km from the power grid and 200km 

to existing deep water ports. The Braemar Iron Formation is the host rock to magnetite mineralisation on the project. This 

formation has a strike length of approximately 110km within the area controlled by the Company. 

 

 

Figure 4 – Project Locations – Razorback Iron Project 

 

RAZORBACK DEPOSIT 

To date, activities at the Razorback deposit have largely focussed on a positive PFS (completed 2013) and optimisation 

studies therein. More recently a number of studies to investigate smaller scale mining options have been initiated by the 

Company. Initially, these studies focussed on a metallurgical and financial review and was later expanded to include a 

Scoping Study which was completed in late 2019.4 The scoping Study returned positive results towards a lower capital, 

lower tonnage start-up mining development. Following the outcomes of the Scoping Study a Pre-Feasibility Study (PFS) 

was initiated to progress the assessment of the low capital, low tonnage staged production scenario.5 The PFS is currently 

underway and utilises the large knowledgebase afforded by previous studies.  
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The PFS and associated testwork is ongoing, key aspects of the work includes: 

• Selective mining studies: This work aims to identify laterally continuous high grade mineralisation within the 

Razorback Iron deposit that may be applicable to a more selective mining approach. Together with complimentary 

ore sorting technology, selective mining has the potential to result in higher grade material being presented to the 

ore processing plant with advantages in increased concentrate volumes and operating and capital cost efficiencies. 

Results to date have been positive with high grade mineralisation bands recognised at the Project.6 Geological 

modelling to produce a detailed resource model for mining and pit optimisation studies is ongoing. 
 

• Ore Sorting: The application of Next Pty Ltd’s on-belt Magnetic Resonance ore sorting technology solution as 

developed by the CSIRO will be further investigated following the positive results of numerical modelling conducted 

in late 2019. These results indicate that substantial upgrading of the ore may be possible prior to processing. 
 

• Together with increased mining rates and pre-concentrating the plant feed up to 40% additional plant capacity may 

be realised at a 50% initial rejection rate. Magnetite mines Limited has secured an exclusivity agreement with NextOre 

for magnetite processing Australia-wide and all iron ore applications in the Braemar (including NSW) for a period of 

4 years.8 
 

• Infrastructure: Following the Scoping Study, infrastructure options will be investigated further. Existing port, rail, road, 

water and power options will be progressed. 
 

• Financial Analysis of a variety of economic scenarios towards potential mine development and pathways available 

to the Project will be investigated as a key component of the PFS. 

 

Figure 5 – Magnetite Mines Limited’s tenement holding, Razorback Iron Project and associated prospect locations
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Razorback Resource and Exploration  

A resource definition programme of approximately 36,000 metres of combined RC and diamond drilling has been undertaken 

over several drilling phases from April 2010 to June 2012.  As announced to the ASX on 12 November 2018, the Razorback 

deposit has been upgraded to JORC 2012 reporting guidelines for a total Resource Estimation of 2.7 Billion tonnes at 15.3% 

eDTR*, 18.2% Fe Head grade (Table 1). The resource equates to 418 Million tonnes of 67.4% Fe concentrate equivalent 

(Table 2).  

Table 1 - Total 2012 JORC Mineral Resource from the Razorback Deposit (11% eDTR cutoff)1 

Prospect JORC Resource 
Classification 

Million 
Tonnes2 

eDTR%
* 

Fe% SiO2% Al2O3% P% 

Razorback Indicated 833 16.0 21.7 45.2 7.3 0.20 

 Inferred 1,532 14.6 16.1 50.2 8.5 0.17 
Iron Peak Indicated 203 16.8 20.0 45.0 7.67 0.18 
 Inferred 163 15.6 17.1 46.7 8.0 0.16 

Total 
Mineral 
Resources 2,731 15.3 18.2 48.1 8.0 0.18 

 
Note: 
1 ASX announcement – 12 November 2018 – Razorback Iron Project – JORC 2012 Resource Update 
2 Tonnages rounded to significant values; total may not appear correct as a result. 
* eDTR or equivalent Davis Tube Recovery explained in ASX announcements on the 11th June 2013 and 10th July 

2013. 

Table 2 - Razorback Deposit indicative product specification (45 micron grind size) 

  
Recovery 

Million 
Tonnes 

 
Fe% 

 
SiO2% 

 
Al2O3% 

 
P% 

 
S% 

Magnetite Product1 15.3% 418 67.4 4.74 0.54 0.016 0.003 

Note 1:  Rounded to significant figures 

IRONBACK HILL PROSPECT 

The Ironback Hill Prospect occurs on EL6126 and is approximately 12 km south-southwest of Razorback Ridge (Figure 5). 

In November 2018, the Ironback Hill Resource Estimate was updated to JORC 2012 guidelines. The completed drilling 

program included 12,466 metres RC and 2,849 metres of diamond drilling between October 2011 and April 2012 (Figure 6). 

Resource modelling confirmed the excellent continuity of the resource.  The Resource remains open to the east and with 

depth.  The Ironback Hill Prospect would most likely be developed independently to the Razorback Project. 

Table 3: Total 2012 JORC compliant Inferred Mineral Resource from Ironback Hill1 

Project JORC Resource 
Classification 

Million 
Tonnes2 

 
Fe% 

 
SiO2% 

 
Al2O3% 

 
P% 

Ironback Hill Inferred 1,187 21.0 44.1 7.2 0.21 
 

Notes:  
1 ASX Announcement – 20 November 2018 – Ironback Hill Deposit – JORC 2012 Resource Update 
2 Tonnages rounded to significant values; total may not appear correct as a result. 
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Figure 6 – Ironback Hill Resource 

STATEMENT OF RESOURCES 

Prospect 
JORC Resource 
Classification 

Million 
Tonnes2 

 
eDTR%* 

 
Fe% 

 
SiO2% 

 
Al2O3% 

 
P% 

Razorback Indicated 833 16.0 21.7 45.2 7.3 0.20 

 Inferred 1,532 14.6 16.1 50.2 8.5 0.17 
Iron Peak Indicated 203 16.8 20.0 45.0 7.67 0.18 
 Inferred 163 15.6 17.1 46.7 8.0 0.16 

Total Mineral Resources 2,731 15.3 18.2 48.1 8.0 0.18 
 

Note:  
1 ASX announcement – 12 November 2018 – Razorback Iron Project – JORC 2012 Resource Update 
2 Rounded to significant figures. 
* eDTR is the equivalent Davis Tube Recovery derived from calibrated magnetic susceptibility data and explained 

in ASX announcements on the 12th November 2018. 
 

IRONBACK HILL RESOURCE ESTIMATE1 (100% MAGNETITE MINES) – NOVEMBER 2018 

Project JORC Resource 
Classification 

Million 
Tonnes2 

 
Fe% 

 
SiO2% 

 
Al2O3% 

 
P% 

Ironback Hill Inferred 1,187 21.0 44.1 7.2 0.21 
 
Note:  
1 ASX Announcement – 20 November 2018 – Ironback Hill Deposit – JORC 2012 Resource Update 
2 Tonnages rounded to significant values; total may not appear correct as a result. 
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COMPETENT PERSON STATEMENT 

The details contained in this report that pertains to ore and mineralisation and the resource underpinning the production 

target is based upon information compiled by Mr Trevor Thomas MEarthSci – Geology (Hons) a full-time employee of the 

Magnetite Mines Limited and external consultant Mr Lynn Widenbar BSc (Hons), MSc, DIC, Principal Consultant Widenbar 

and Associates Pty Ltd. Mr. Thomas is a Member of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (AusIMM) and 

Australian Institute of Geoscientists (AIG) Mr Widenbar is a Member of the AusIMM. These two people have sufficient 

experience which is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity which 

they are undertaking to qualify as a Competent Persons as defined in the December 2012 edition of the “Australasian Code 

for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves” (JORC Code 2012). Mr. Thomas and Mr 

Widenbar consent to the inclusion in this report of the matters based upon their information in the form and context in which 

it appears. 

The Resource Statement above is based on, and fairly represents, information and supporting documentation prepared by 
competent persons. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE – RESERVES AND RESOURCES CALCULATIONS 

Due to the nature, stage and size of the Company’s existing operations, the Company believes there would be no efficiencies 

gained by establishing a separate mineral reserves and resources committee responsible for reviewing and monitoring the 

Company’s processes for calculating mineral reserves and resources and for ensuring that the appropriate internal controls 

are applied to such calculations. 

However, the Company ensures that any mineral reserve and resource calculations are prepared by competent geologists 

and are reviewed independently and verified (including estimation methodology, sampling, analytical and test data). 

References 

1. ASX Announcement - 13/09/16 - Metallurgical Update - Positive Results 
2. ASX Announcement – 12/11/18 - Razorback Iron Project - JORC 2012 Resource Update 
3. ASX Announcement – 20/11/18 – Ironback Hill Deposit – JORC 2012 Resource Update 
4. ASX Announcement – 07/11/19 – Positive Razorback Scoping Study Results 
5. ASX Announcement – 18/06/20 – Commencement of PFS and Appointment of Expert Advisors 
6. ASX Announcement – 19/08/20 – Selective Mining 
7. ASX Announcement – 11/12/19 – Ore Sorting Update – Technical Release 
8. ASX Announcement – 12/10/19 - Ore Sorting Technology Exclusively Secured 
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The Directors present their report on the Consolidated Entity consisting of Magnetite Mines Limited and the entities it 
controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2020. 
 
INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS  
The following persons were Directors of Magnetite Mines Limited (“Company”) and were in office during the financial year 
and until the date of this report unless otherwise stated.  
 
Mr Peter Schubert Executive Chairman  
Mr Frank DeMarte Executive Director Resigned 31 July 2020 
Mr Malcolm R J Randall Non-Executive Director  
Mr Mark R Eames  Non-Executive Director Appointed 11 March 2020 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY 
The principal activity of the Consolidated Entity during the year was mineral exploration in Australia.  Other than the 
foregoing, there were no significant changes in those activities during the year. 

RESULT OF OPERATIONS 
During the year the Consolidated Entity incurred a consolidated operating loss after tax of $373,511 (2019 – loss 
$1,344,664). 

DIVIDENDS 
No dividends have been paid during the financial year and no dividend is recommended for the current year. 

NATIVE TITLE 
Claims of native title over certain of the Consolidated Entity’s tenements have been made, and may in the future be made 
under the Commonwealth Native Title Act.  In the event that native title is established by an indigenous community over 
an area that is subject to the Consolidated Entity’s mining tenements, the nature of the native title may be such that consent 
to mining may be required from that community but is withheld. 

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS 
There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Consolidated Entity during the financial year not otherwise 
dealt with in this report. 

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 
Since the end of the financial period, the Directors are not aware of any other matter or circumstance not otherwise dealt 
with in this report or the Financial Statements, that has significantly or may significantly affect the operations of the 
Consolidated Entity, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Consolidated Entity. 
 
Exercise of Unquoted Options by Underwriter 
On 13 August 2020, the Company issued 15,000,000 ordinary fully paid shares at an issue price of $0.003 per share 
pursuant to the exercise of unquoted options. 
 
Issue of Employee Options 
On 12 August 2020, the Company issued 7,000,000 unquoted options exercisable at $0.015 each with an expiry date of 
11 August 2023 to eligible employees in accordance with the Company’s Employee Share Option Plan. 
 
Issue of Renounceable Rights Issue Prospectus 
On 4 September 2020 the Company announced a renounceable pro rata offer to eligible shareholders of one (1) new 
share for every four (4) shares held on the record date at an issue price of $0.01 per new share, together with one (1) 
attaching quoted option for every two (2) new shares subscribed for (exercisable at $0.05 each on or before 29 October 
2021), to raise approximately $5.65 million. The Rights Issue is partially underwritten by Mahe Capital Pty Ltd for an 
amount of $4,000,000. The Rights Issue closes at 5:00pm (WST) on Tuesday, 29 September 2020.   
 
Repayment of Chairman’s loan 
On 16 September 2020, the Company repaid the remaining balance including interest in relation to the Chairman’s 
unsecured loan totalling $103,151. 
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LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS 

Details of important developments in the operations of the Consolidated Entity are set out in the review of operations 
section of this report.  The Consolidated Entity will continue to explore its Australian tenement areas of interest for minerals, 
and any significant information or data will be released in the market and to shareholders. 

ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES AND REGULATIONS 
The Consolidated Entity has interests in mining tenements (including prospecting, exploration and mining leases).  The 
leases and licence conditions contain environmental obligations. The Consolidated Entity has assessed whether there are 
any particular or significant environmental regulations which apply.  It has determined that the risk of non-compliance is 
low, and has not identified any compliance breaches during the year. The directors are not aware of any environmental 
matters which would have a significant adverse effect on the Consolidated Entity. 

CORPORATE INFORMATION 

Magnetite Mines Limited Parent entity 
Razorback Iron Pty Ltd 100% owned controlled entity 
Razorback Operations Pty Ltd 100% owned controlled entity 
Red Dragon Mining Pty Ltd 100% owned controlled entity 
Ironback Pty Ltd 100% owned controlled entity 

INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS 
 

 PETER SCHUBERT Executive Chairman 
Skills and Experience 
 

Mr Schubert is a professional investor with business development and entrepreneurial 
skills teamed with over 31 years of direct experience in international and domestic 
markets. Mr Schubert has strong, established ties to the investment community, 
particularly in relation to the Australian resource sector. 
During his career Mr Schubert has developed a range of businesses across various 
sectors with an emphasis on support for the establishment of various Australian 
resource companies. 
 
Mr Schubert’s experience includes manufacturing, investor relations, advertising, 
systems development, and capital markets. 
Mr Schubert was first appointed to the board on 17 December 2015 as non-executive 
director and appointed as executive director on 9 December 2016 and subsequently 
appointed as Executive Chairman on 3 September 2018. 

Other current Directorships None. 
Former Directorships in last 
three years 

None. 

Special Responsibilities Chairman of the board 
Member of the nomination committee (from 17 December 2015) 

Interest in Shares and Options 
at the date of this report 

85,488,911 Ordinary shares. 

 5,297,782 Quoted options exercisable at 5 cents each expiring 31 May 2021. 
 10,000,000 Unquoted options exercisable at 2 cents each expiring 30 November 

2021. 
 10,000,000 Unquoted options exercisable at 5 cents each expiring 30 November 

2022. 
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FRANK DEMARTE Executive Director – Resigned 31 July 2020 
Qualifications BBus (Acct), FGIA, FCG, FAICD  
Skills and Experience 
 

Mr DeMarte has over 36 years of experience in the mining and exploration industry in 
Western Australia.  Mr DeMarte has held executive positions with a number of listed 
mining and exploration companies and is currently an Executive Director, Company 
Secretary and Chief Financial Officer of the Company. 
 
Mr DeMarte is experienced in areas of secretarial practice, corporate governance, 
management accounting and corporate and financial management.  Mr DeMarte 
holds a Bachelor of Business majoring in Accounting and is a Fellow of the Chartered 
Governance Institute and a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. 
Mr DeMarte was appointed a director on 23 February 2004. Mr DeMarte resigned as 
a director on 31 July 2020. 

Other current Directorships Ora Gold Limited (since 2001). 
Former Directorships in last 
three years 

None. 
 

Special Responsibilities Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary. 
Interest in Shares and Options 
at the date of this report 

21,409,315 Ordinary shares. 

 953,000 Quoted options exercisable at 5 cents each expiring 31 May 2021. 
 5,000,000 Unquoted options exercisable at 2 cents each expiring 26 November 

2020. 
 10,000,000 Unquoted options exercisable at 1.50 cents each expiring  

1 December 2024. 
 

MALCOLM R J RANDALL Non-Executive Director 
Qualifications B.Applied Chem, FAICD 
Skills and Experience 
 

Mr Randall holds a Bachelor of Applied Chemistry Degree and is a Fellow of the 
Australian Institute of Company Directors.  He has extensive experience in corporate, 
management and marketing in the resource sector, including more than 26 years with 
the Rio Tinto group of companies.  His experience extends over a broad range of 
commodities including iron ore, diamonds, base metals, coal, uranium, and industrial 
minerals both in Australia and internationally. Mr Randall was appointed a director on 
4 October 2006. 

Other current Directorships Ora Gold Limited (since 2003) 
Argosy Minerals Limited (since 2017) 
Hastings Technology Metals Ltd (since 2019) 
Kalium Lakes Limited (since 2016) 

Former Directorships in last 
three years 

Summit Resources Limited (from 2007 to 2018) 
Spitfire Oil Ltd (from 2007 to 2020) 

Special Responsibilities Chairman of Audit Committee from August 2009. 
Chairman of Nomination Committee from October 2006.  
Chairman of Remuneration Committee from October 2006. 

Interest in Shares and Options 
at the date of this report 

14,470,452 Fully paid ordinary shares. 

 503,096 Quoted options exercisable at 5 cents each expiring 31 May 2021. 
 5,000,000 Unquoted options exercisable at 2 cents each expiring 26 November 

2020. 
 10,000,000 Unquoted options exercisable at 1.50 cents each expiring  

1 December 2024. 
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MARK R EAMES Non-Executive Director 
Qualifications BA (Metallurgy) (Hons) 
Skills and Experience 
 

Mr Eames has a successful track record in the global minerals industry in exploration, 
evaluation, development, acquisitions, operations, marketing and senior corporate 
management. He is a qualified metallurgist with extensive experience in Australia and 
overseas and has held senior roles working with the iron ore businesses of Glencore, 
Rio Tinto and BHP. 
 
Mr Eames graduated with a BA (Metallurgy)(Hons) from the University of Cambridge, 
UK. He is a member of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. Mr Eames 
is a past and present Director of other Australian publicly listed companies including 
Universal Coal, where he is interim Chairman, and Sphere Minerals Ltd, where he 
was the Chief Executive Officer. 
 
Mr Eames will perform an important role in guiding and advising the technical team 
undertaking the next phase of technical work advancing pre-feasibility studies for the 
low capital staged development of the Razorback High Grade Iron Ore Project 
(Razorback Project). 

Other current Directorships None 
Former Directorships in last 
three years 

Universal Coal (from 2019 to 2020) 

Special Responsibilities Member of Audit Committee from March 2020. 
Member of Remuneration Committee from March 2020. 

Interest in Shares and Options 
at the date of this report 32,078,609 Fully paid ordinary shares. 

COMPANY SECRETARY 
 

FRANK DEMARTE BBus (Acct), FGIA, FCG, FAICD 
The Company Secretary is Mr Frank DeMarte. Mr DeMarte has over 36 years of experience in the mining and exploration 
industry in Western Australia and has held executive positions with a number of listed mining and exploration companies. 
 
Mr DeMarte is experienced in areas of secretarial practice, corporate governance, management accounting and corporate 
and financial management. Mr DeMarte holds a Bachelor of Business majoring in Accounting and is a Fellow of the 
Chartered Governance Institute and a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. Mr DeMarte was re-
appointed to the position on 22 August 2013. 

SHARES UNDER OPTION 
 

As at the date of this report, there were 261,624,545 unissued ordinary shares of the Company under option as follows:   
 

Date options issued Expiry date Exercise price of options Number of options 
27 Nov 2015 26 Nov 2020 0.02 10,000,000 
26 Apr 2016 26 Apr 2021 0.02 3,000,000 
25 Aug 2016 24 Aug 2021 0.045 1,000,000 
8 Sep 2016 7 Sep 2021 0.025 3,000,000 
1 Dec 2016 30 Nov 2021 0.02 10,000,000 
6 Dec 2016 5 Dec 2021 0.10 5,000,000 

19 Mar 2019 18 Mar 2022 0.015 6,500,000 
6 Jun 2017 5 Jun 2022 0.04 3,000,000 
6 Jul 2017 5 Jul 2022 0.04 7,500,000 

1 Dec 2017 30 Nov 2022 0.05 10,000,000 
5 Jun 2018 4 Jun 2023 0.035 3,000,000 

12 Aug 2020 11 Aug 2023 0.015 7,000,000 
2 Dec 2019 1 Dec 2024 0.015 20,000,000 

Quoted options    
18 May 2018 31 May 2021 0.05 172,624,545 
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During the financial year: 
 

(1) 8,000,000 unquoted options with an exercise price of 4.5 cents each expired on 5 August 2019. 
 

Option holders do not have any right, by virtue of the option, to participate in any share issue of the Company or any other 
entity. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

A copy of the Magnetite Mines Limited Corporate Governance Statement is available on the Company's website at 
www.magnetitemines.com/corporate. 

 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



 
MAGNETITE MINES LIMITED 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT  

Magnetite Mines Limited – Annual Report 2020         18 
 

REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) 

This Remuneration Report details the nature and amount of remuneration for each of the directors and other senior 
management personnel of the Company.  
 
(a) Details of Key Management Personnel 

 
The following persons were key management personnel of Magnetite Mines Limited during the financial year: 

  
Peter Schubert       Executive Chairman  
Frank DeMarte Executive Director Resigned 31 July 2020 
Malcolm R J Randall Non-Executive Director  
Mark R Eames     Non-Executive Director Appointed 11 March 2020 

 
(b) Compensation of Key Management Personnel  

 
 Remuneration Policy 

 
The Company’s remuneration policy for executive directors is designed to promote superior performance and long 
term commitment to the Company.  Executives receive a base remuneration, which is market related.  Overall, the 
remuneration policy is subject to the discretion of the Board and can be altered to reflect the competitive market 
and business conditions, where it is in the best interest of the Company and the shareholders to do so. 

The Board’s reward policy reflects its obligations to align executives’ remuneration with shareholders’ interests and 
to retain appropriately qualified executive talent for the benefit of the Group.  The main principles of the policy are: 

• Reward reflects the competitive market in which the Group operates; 
• Individual reward should be linked to performance criteria; and 
• Executives should be rewarded for both financial and non-financial performance. 

Directors’ and executives’ remuneration is reviewed by the board of directors, having regard to various goals set.  
This remuneration and other terms of employment are commensurate with those offered within the exploration and 
mining industry. 

Non-executive directors’ remuneration is in the form of directors’ fees and are approved by shareholders as to the 
maximum aggregate remuneration.  The Board recommends the actual payment to non-executive directors. The 
Board’s reward policy for non-executive directors reflects its obligation to align remuneration with shareholders’ 
interests and to retain appropriately qualified talent for the benefit of the Group. 

Remuneration packages are set at levels that are intended to attract and retain directors and executives capable 
of managing the Group’s operations. 

(A) Remuneration Committee 
The Remuneration Committee is responsible for determining and reviewing compensation arrangements 
for the directors and all other key management personnel. 

 
The Remuneration Committee assesses the appropriateness of the nature and amount of compensation of 
key management personnel on an annual basis by reference to relevant employment market conditions with 
the overall objective of ensuring maximum stakeholder benefit from the retention of a high quality board and 
executive team. 

 
(B) Remuneration Structure 

In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of non-executive director and 
executive compensation is separate and distinct. 

 
Objective 
The Board seeks to set aggregate compensation at a level that provides the Company with the ability to 
attract and retain directors of the highest calibre, whilst incurring a cost that is acceptable to shareholders. 
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (continued) 

Structure 
The Constitution and the ASX Listing Rules specify that the aggregate compensation of non-executive 
directors shall be determined from time to time by a general meeting.  An amount not exceeding the amount 
determined is then divided between the directors as agreed. The latest determination was at the annual 
general meeting held on 26 November 2009 when shareholders approved an aggregate compensation of 
$400,000 per year. 

The amount of aggregate compensation sought to be approved by shareholders and the manner in which it 
is apportioned amongst directors is reviewed annually.  

 
 
(b) Compensation of Key Management Personnel (continued) 
 
 The Board considers advice from external consultants as well as the fees paid to non-executive directors of 

comparable companies when undertaking the annual review process. 
 

Each director receives a fee for being a director of the Company.  An additional fee may also be paid for each 
Board committee on which a director sits.  The payment of additional fees for serving on a committee recognises 
the additional time commitments required by directors who serve on one or more sub committees. 
 
Non-executive directors have long been encouraged by the Board to hold shares in the Company (purchased by 
the director on market).  It is considered good governance for directors to have a stake in the Company on whose 
board they sit. The compensation of non-executive directors for the year ended 30 June 2020 is detailed as per the 
disclosures on page 20. 
 
(C) Executive Compensation 

Objective 
The entity aims to reward executives with a level and mix of compensation commensurate with their position 
and responsibilities within the entity so as to: 
 
• reward executives for company, business unit and individual performance against targets set by 

remuneration committee to appropriate benchmarks;  
• align the interests of executives with those of shareholders; 
• link rewards with the strategic goals and performance of the Company; and 
• ensure total compensation is competitive by market standards. 
 
Structure 
In determining the level and make-up of executive remuneration, the remuneration committee will review 
individual performance, relevant comparative compensation in the market and internally and, where 
appropriate, external advice on policies and practices. 

 
(D) Fixed Compensation 

Objective 
Fixed compensation is reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee.  The process consists of a 
review of companywide, business unit and individual performance, relevant comparative compensation in 
the market and internally and, where appropriate, external advice on policies and practices. 
 
Structure  
Executives are given the opportunity to receive their fixed remuneration in a variety of forms including cash 
and fringe benefits such as motor vehicles and expense payment plans. It is intended that the manner of 
payment chosen will be optimal for the recipient without creating undue cost for the Company. 

 
(E) Other Compensation 

Notwithstanding Guideline 8.2 of the ASX Corporate Governance Council Principles of Good Corporate 
Governance and Best Practice Recommendations which provides that non-executive Directors should not 
receive Options, the Directors consider that the grant of the options is designed to encourage the Directors 
to have a greater involvement in the achievement of the Company’s objectives and to provide an incentive 
to strive to that end by participating in the future growth and prosperity of the Company through share 
ownership.   
 
Under the Company’s current circumstances the granting of options is an incentive to each of the Directors, 
which is a cost effective and efficient reward for the Company, as opposed to alternative forms of incentive, 
such as the payment of additional cash compensation to the Directors. 
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (continued) 

 
(b) Compensation of Key Management Personnel (continued)  

 
Details of the remuneration of each director of Magnetite Mines Limited and other key management personnel, including their personally related entities are set out below: 

 
 Remuneration of key management personnel for the year ended 30 June 2020 
 

Names 
 

Short-Term Post 
Employment 

Other 
Long Term 

Share Based 
Payment 

Total 
$ 

% 
Remuneration 

Salary & 
Directors 

Fees 

Annual 
Leave 

Movement 

 
Other  

 
Superannuation 

Long 
Service 
Leave 

Equity 
Options 

Consisting of 
Options for the 

Year 
Executive Directors          
Peter Schubert 2020 100,000 8,886 - 9,500 - - 118,386 - 
 2019 100,000 8,886 - 9,500 - - 118,386 - 
Frank DeMarte (1) 2020 90,000 - - 8,550 - 29,994 128,544 23% 
 2019 90,000 - - 8,550 - - 98,550 - 
Non-Executive 
Directors 

         

Malcolm R J Randall 2020 49,048 - - 4,660 - 29,994 83,702 36% 
 2019 49,048 - - 4,660 - - 53,708 - 
Mark R Eames (2) 2020 15,385 - 54,578 1,461 - - 71,424 - 
 2019 - - - - - - - - 
Total 2020 254,433 8,886 54,578 24,171 - 59,988 402,056 15% 
 2019 239,048 8,886 - 22,710 - - 270,644 - 
 
(1) F DeMarte resigned as a director on 31 July 2020. There’s no formal employment agreement entered between the Company and F DeMarte since he became the Chief Financial Officer 

& Company Secretary on 22 August 2013. The remuneration paid during the year has been disclosed in the remuneration table above. (Effective from 1 August 2020, Mr DeMarte’s 
remuneration as Chief Financial Officer & Company Secretary on a part time basis has been revised from $90,000 to $130,000 per annum.) 

(2) M R Eames was appointed a director on 11 March 2020. Other fees of $54,578 shown above relates to consultancy fees paid to Mr Eames in relation to Razorback project for period  
11 March 2020 to 30 June 2020. Prior to becoming a non-executive director, Mr Eames was paid a total of $67,578 in shares (13,007,159 shares) which relates to period 1 July 2019 to 
10 March 2020.  
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (continued) 

(c) Employment Agreements for Key Management Personnel 
 

Name Base salary Terms of Engagement Notice Period 
P Schubert (1) $100,000 No fixed term     1 month 

 
Note 1: Mr Schubert’s base salary was increased effective 1 August 2020 from $100,000 per annum to 

$175,000. 
 
 

(d) Shareholdings of Key Management Personnel (Consolidated and Parent Entity) 

The number of shares held in Magnetite Mines Limited during the financial year. 
 

 
30 June 2020 

Balance  
1 July 2019 

Granted as 
Remuneration 

On Exercise 
of Options 

Net Change 
Other 

Balance  
30 June 2020  

Peter Schubert 26,988,911 - - 58,500,000 85,488,911 
Frank DeMarte (1) 4,766,135 - - 16,643,170 21,409,305 
Malcolm R J Randall 2,515,479 - - 11,954,973 14,470,452 
Mark R Eames (2) - - - 32,078,609 32,078,609 
Total 34,270,525 - - 119,176,752 153,447,277 

 
(1) F DeMarte resigned as a director on 31 July 2020. 
(2) M R Eames was appointed a Director on 11 March 2020. 

 
 

 
30 June 2019 

Balance  
1 July 2018 

Granted as 
Remuneration 

On Exercise 
of Options 

Net Change 
Other 

Balance  
30 June 2019  

Peter Schubert 26,988,911 - - - 26,988,911 
Gordon L Toll (1) 108,476,509   (108,476,509) - 
Frank DeMarte 4,766,135 - - - 4,766,135 
Malcolm R J Randall 2,515,479 - - - 2,515,479 
Total 142,747,034 - - (108,476,509) 34,270,525 

 
(1) G L Toll resigned as Executive Chairman, Director and CEO on 2 September 2018. 

 
All equity transactions with key management personnel other than those arising from the exercise of 
remuneration options have been entered into under terms and conditions no more favourable than those the 
Company would have adopted if dealing at arm’s length. 
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (continued) 

(e) Share Based Compensation Options  
 

During the financial year 20,000,000 options were granted as equity compensation benefits to key management personnel.  No options have been granted since the end of 
the year to key management personnel. For further details relating to options, refer to note 20. 
 
Compensation Options: Granted and value of options exercised in year during the year ended 30 Jun 2020. 

 
30 June 2020 Terms and Conditions for each Grant 
 
 
Key Management 
Personnel 

 
 

Number 
Vested 

 
Number 

Granted As 
Remuneration 

 
 

Grant 
Date 

Fair Value per 
option at Grant 

Date ($) 
(Note 20) 

Exercise 
Price per option 

($)  
(Note 20) 

 
Expiry 
Date 

First 
Exercise 

Date 

Last 
Exercise 

Date 

Peter Schubert - - - - - - - - 
Frank DeMarte (1) - 10,000,000 2/12/2019 $0.003 $0.015 1/12/2024 2/12/2019 1/12/2024 
M R J Randall - 10,000,000 2/12/2019 $0.003 $0.015 1/12/2024 2/12/2019 1/12/2024 
Mark R Eames (2) - - - - - - - - 
Total - 20,000,000       

 

(1) F DeMarte resigned as a director on 31 July 2020. 
(2) MR Eames was appointed a director on 11 March 2020.   
 
Compensation Options: Granted and vested during the year ended 30 June 2019. 

 
30 June 2019 Terms and Conditions for each Grant 
 
 
Key Management 
Personnel 

 
 

Number 
Vested 

 
Number 

Granted As 
Remuneration 

 
 

Grant 
Date 

Fair Value per 
option at Grant 

Date ($) 
(Note 20) 

Exercise 
Price per option 

($) (Note 20) 

 
Expiry 
Date 

First 
Exercise 

Date 

Last 
Exercise 

Date 

Peter Schubert - - - - - - - - 
Gordon L Toll (1) - - - - - - - - 
Frank DeMarte - - - - - - - - 
M R J Randall - - - - - - - - 
Total - -       

 
(1) G L Toll resigned as Executive Chairman, Director and CEO on 2 September 2018. 
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (continued) 

(f) Shares Issued on exercise of compensation options 
No shares were issued to key management personnel on exercise of compensation options for the year ended 30 June 2020. 

 
(g) Options granted as part of remuneration 

The following table summarises the value of options granted, exercised or lapsed for the year ended 30 June 2020. 
 

 
30 June 2020 

Value of options granted  
during the year 

Value of options exercised  
during the year 

Value of options lapsed 
during  the year 

% Remuneration Consisting of 
Options for the year 

Peter Schubert - - - - 
Frank DeMarte (1) 29,994 - - 23% 
Malcolm R J Randall 29,994 - - 36% 
R W Crabb - - - - 
Mark R Eames (2) - - - - 
Total 59,988 - - 15% 

(1) F DeMarte resigned as a director on 31 July 2020. 
(2) M R Eames was appointed a Director 11 March 2020.  
 

There were no alterations to the terms and conditions of options granted as remuneration since their grant. The value of the options exercised during the year is calculated as 
the market price of shares of the Company on the Australian Securities Exchange as at the close of trading on the date the options were exercised after deducting the price paid 
to exercise the options. Options issued to employees vest on the basis that continual employment with the Company is achieved. All employees leaving while options are vesting 
will forfeit their options. Director options vest on date of issue. For details on the valuation of the options, including models and assumptions used, please refer to Note 20. There 
were no alterations to the terms and conditions of options granted as remuneration since their grant date.  

 
The following table summarises the value of options granted, exercised or lapsed for the year ended 30 June 2019. 

 
 

30 June 2019 
Value of options granted 

during  the year 
Value of options exercised 

during the year 
Value of options lapsed 
during  the year (4) (5) 

% Remuneration Consisting of 
Options for the year 

Peter Schubert - - - - 
Gordon Toll (1)  -  (30,000,000)  
Frank DeMarte - - (1,500,000) - 
Malcolm R J Randall - - (1,500,000) - 
Total - - (33,000,000) - 

 
(1) G L Toll resigned as Executive Chairman, Director and CEO on 2 September 2018. 
(2) 30,000,000 options lapsed on 2 September 2018.  
(3) 3,000,000 options expired on 31 October 2018. 
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (continued) 

(h) Clawback Policy 
The Company’s Option Incentive Plan includes provisions that if the Board becomes aware of a material misstatement in the Company’s financial statements or some other event 
has occurred which, as a result, means that the vesting conditions in respect of certain vested options were not, or should not have been determined to have been, satisfied, then 
the holder will cease to be entitled to those vested options (Affected Options) and the Board may take various actions, including: cancelling the relevant Affected Options for no 
consideration; requiring that the holder pay to the Company the after tax value of the Affected Options which have been converted into Shares or adjusting fixed remuneration, 
incentives or participation in the option incentive plan of a relevant holder in the current year or any future year to take account of the after tax value of the Affected Options. 

 
(i) Equity instruments  

Analysis of options and rights over equity instruments granted as compensation. Details of vesting profiles of the options granted as remuneration to each key management 
personnel of the group are detailed below: 

 
 Number of options 

 granted 
Grant Date of 

options 
Exercise Price 

of options $ 
Fair Value of Options 

on Grant Date $ 
Expiry date 

Executive Directors 
Peter Schubert 10,000,000 1/12/2016 $0.02 $270,000 30/11/2021 
 10,000,000 1/12/2017 $0.05 $210,000 30/11/2022 
F DeMarte (1) 5,000,000 27/11/2015 $0.02 $35,000 26/11/2020 
 10,000,000 2/12/2019 $0.015 $29,994 01/12/2024 
Non-Executive Directors 
Malcolm  R J Randall 5,000,000 27/11/2015 $0.02 $35,000 26/11/2020 
 10,000,000 2/12/2019 $0.015 $29,994 01/12/2024 
Mark R Eames (2) - - - - - 

(1) F DeMarte resigned as a director on 31 July 2020. 
(2) M R Eames was appointed a Director 11 March 2020.  
 

(j) Loans to key management personnel  
There were no loans made to key management personnel during the year ended 30 June 2020. 
 

(k) Other transactions with key management personnel and their related parties 
In September 2019, the Company’s executive Chairman, Peter Schubert provided the Company with unsecured loan of $200,000 pursuant to a Convertible Loan Agreement. 
The loan accrued interest at 5% per annum and is payable on the earlier of the date on which the loan is repaid in full and the repayment date. During the year, the parties 
agreed that the repayment date of the loan would be extended to the 16 September 2020. On 23 March 2020, the Company made an interest payment of $5,123 and on  
4 May 2020, a partial repayment of $100,000 of this loan was made to Peter Schubert. Subsequent to the year end on 16 September 2020, the remainder of the loan and 
interest accrued of $103,151 was fully repaid .
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (continued) 

 
(l) Option holdings of Key Management Personnel (Consolidated and Parent Entity) 

 
The number of options over ordinary shares held in Magnetite Mines Limited during the financial year. 

 

30 June 2020 

Balance at 
beginning of 

period 
1 July 2019 

Granted as 
Remuneration 

Options 
Exercised 

Options 
Expired 

Net Change 
Other 

Balance at 
end of period 
30 June 2020 

Vested at 30 June 2020 

Total Exercisable 
Not 

Exercisable 
Peter Schubert 25,297,782 - - - - 25,297,782 25,297,782 25,297,782 - 
Frank DeMarte (1) 5,953,000 10,000,000 - - - 15,953,000 15,953,000 15,953,000 - 
Malcolm R J Randall 5,503,096 10,000,000 - - - 15,503,096 15,503,096 15,503,096 - 
Mark R Eames (2) - - - - - - - - - 
Total 36,753,878 20,000,000 - - - 56,753,878 56,753,878 56,753,878 - 
 
(1) F DeMarte resigned as a director on 31 July 2020. 
(2) M R Eames was appointed a Director 11 March 2020.  

 

30 June 2019 

Balance at 
beginning of 

period 
1 July 2018 

Granted as 
Remuneration 

Options 
Exercised 

Options 
Expired 

Net Change 
Other (4) 

Balance at 
end of period 
30 June 2019 

Vested at 30 June 2019 
Total Exercisable Not 

Exercisable 

Peter Schubert 25,297,782 - -  - 25,297,782 25,297,782 25,297,782 - 
Gordon L Toll (1) 30,000,000 - -  (30,000,000) - - - - 
Frank DeMarte 7,453,000 - - (1,500,000) - 5,953,000 5,953,000 5,953,000 - 
Malcolm R J Randall 7,003,096 - - (1,500,000) - 5,503,096 5,503,096 5,503,096  
Total 69,753,878 - - (3,000,000) (30,000,000) 36,753,878 36,753,878 36,753,878 - 

 
(1) G L Toll resigned as Executive Chairman, Director and CEO on 2 September 2018. 
(2) 30,000,000 options lapsed on 2 September 2018. 
(3) 3,000,000 options expired on 31 October 2018 F
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DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS 
 
The following table sets out the number of meetings of directors held during the year and the number of meetings attended 
by each Director:  
 

 
 
 
 
Name 

Board of Directors’ 
Meetings 

Audit Committee  
Meetings 

Remuneration 
Committee  
Meetings 

Nomination  
Committee  
Meetings 

Number 
attended 

Number 
eligible 

to attend 
Number 
attended 

Number 
eligible 

to attend 
Number 
attended 

Number 
eligible 

to attend 
Number 
attended 

Number 
eligible 

to attend 
Peter Schubert (1) 3 3 - - 1 - 1 1 
F DeMarte (2) 3 3 2 - 1 - 1 1 
Malcolm Randall  3 3 2 2 1 1 1 1 
Mark Eames (3) 1 1 - - 1 1 - - 

 
(1) Peter Schubert, the Executive Chairman, attends the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee meetings by invitation only.  
(2) F DeMarte, the Company’s Company Secretary and Chief Financial Officer, attends the Audit Committee meetings by invitation only.     
(3) Mark R Eames was appointed an additional director on 11 March 2020. 
                 
 
Committee Memberships 

As at the date of this report, the Company had an Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and a Nomination 
Committee. 
 

Audit Remuneration Nomination 
M R J Randall (C)  M R J Randall (C) M R J Randall (C) 
Mark R Eames Mark R Eames Peter Schubert 
  Mark R Eames 

 

Note: (C)  Designates the Chairman of the Committee.  
 
 
RESIGNATION, ELECTION AND CONTINUATION IN OFFICE 

In accordance with the Constitution of the Company, Mark R Eames and Malcom Randall both being eligible, will offer 
themselves for re-election at the Annual General Meeting.  
 
 

PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY 

During the year, no person applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of a Company or intervene in any 
proceedings to which the Consolidated Entity is a party for the purposes of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company 
for all or any part of the proceedings.   
 
 

INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 
During the financial year, the Company paid premiums to insure the Directors and Officers of the Company against 
liabilities for costs and expenses that may be incurred by the Directors in defending civil or criminal proceedings that may 
be brought against the Directors and Officers in their capacity as officers of the Company, other than conduct involving a 
wilful breach of duty in relation to the Company. 
 
 

NON-AUDIT SERVICES 

No fees were paid or payable to Stantons International for non-audit services provided during the year ended 30 June 
2020. 
 F
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AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE 
 
The auditor’s independence declaration for the year ended 30 June 2020 has been received and can be found on page 
66. 
 
 
 
 
 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors. 
 
 
 

 
 
PETER SCHUBERT 
Executive Chairman 
 
Perth, Western Australia 
 
Dated in Perth this 24th of September 2020 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
 

  
Note 

Consolidated 
 2020 

$ 
2019 

$ 
REVENUE FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS    
    
Other income 4(a) 1,039,065 15,552 
    
EXPENDITURE     
Amortisation and depreciation  (9,980) (15,468) 
Administration expenses  (146,041) (221,831) 
Employee benefits expense  (460,697) (537,285) 
Exploration expenditure 12 (181,814) (13,180) 
Finance costs  (736) (1,132) 
Interest expense  (118,679) (175,000) 
Profit/(loss) on sale of plant and office equipment 4(b) 4,453 (6,183) 
Non recovery of loan to related party  - (21,976) 
Other expenses  (309,790) (57,899) 
Professional fees  (125,593) (294,701) 
Share based payment expense 17(d) (63,699) (15,561) 
Loss from continuing operations before income tax expense  (373,511) (1,344,664) 
    
 Income tax (expense)/benefit 5(a) - - 
    
Net loss from continuing operations for the year   (373,511) (1,344,664) 
    
Other comprehensive income    
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss  - - 
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss  - - 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  - - 
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year  (373,511) (1,344,664) 
    
Net Loss attributable to members of the parent entity  (373,511) (1,344,664) 
    
Comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to members of the 
parent entity 

 
(373,511) (1,344,664) 

    
  2020 

cents 
2019 
cents 

Loss per share attributable to ordinary equity holders: 
Basic loss (cents per share) 
Diluted loss (cents per share) 

 
6(a) 
6(b) 

 
(0.03) 
(0.03) 

 
(0.18) 
(0.18) 

 
 
 
 

The above Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction 
with the accompanying notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 30 JUNE 2020 
  

Note 
Consolidated 

 2020 
$ 

2019 
$ 

ASSETS    
CURRENT ASSETS    
Cash and cash equivalents 7(a) 830,872 227,736 
Trade and other receivables 8(a) 32,377 14,914 
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  863,249 242,650 
    
NON-CURRENT ASSETS    
Other receivables 8(b) 32,588 32,588 
Property, plant and equipment 11 27,613 38,858 
Exploration expenditure 12 9,500,844 9,117,768 
Intangible assets 13 107 215 
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS  9,561,152 9,189,429 
TOTAL ASSETS  10,424,401 9,432,079 
    
LIABILITIES    
CURRENT LIABILITIES    
Trade and other payables 14 146,558 203,561 
Provisions 15 61,487 59,728 
Unsecured loan 16 102,082 - 
Convertible Loan  16 - 2,500,000 
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES  310,127 2,763,289 
    
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES    
Convertible Loan  16 1,975,000 - 
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  1,975,000 - 
TOTAL LIABILITIES  2,285,127 2,763,289 
NET ASSETS  8,139,274 6,668,790 
    
EQUITY    
Contributed equity 17(a) 54,390,770 52,621,691 
Reserves 17(d) 10,624,398 10,549,482 
Accumulated losses 18 (56,875,894) (56,502,383) 
TOTAL EQUITY  8,139,274 6,668,790 

 
 
 

The above Consolidated Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
 
 
  CONSOLIDATED 

 
Note 

Contributed 
Equity 

 
Reserves 

Accumulated 
Losses 

 
Total 

  $ $ $ $ 
      
Balance at 1 July 2019  52,621,691 10,549,482 (56,502,383) 6,668,790 
      
Total comprehensive income for the year      
      
Profit/(Loss) for the year  - - (373,511) (373,511) 
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for 
the year 

  
- 

 
- 

 
(373,511) 

 
(373,511) 

      
Transactions with owners recorded 
directly in equity: 

     

Shares issued during the year 17(b) 1,961,713  - 1,961,713 
Transaction costs 17(b) (192,634) - - (192,634) 
Cost of share based payments 17(d) - 74,916 - 74,916 
  1,769,079 74,916 - 1,843,995 
Balance at 30 June 2020  54,390,770 10,624,398 (56,875,894) 8,139,274 

 
The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

 
 
 
 
  CONSOLIDATED 

 
Note 

Contributed 
Equity 

 
Reserves 

Accumulated 
Losses 

 
Total 

  $ $ $ $ 
      
Balance at 1 July 2018  52,324,651 10,533,921 (55,157,719) 7,700,853 
      
Total comprehensive income for the year      
      
Profit/(Loss) for the year  - - (1,344,664) (1,344,664) 
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for 
the year 

  
- 

 
- 

 
(1,344,664) 

 
(1,344,664) 

      
Transactions with owners recorded 
directly in equity: 

     

Shares issued during the year 17(b) 300,000 - - 300,000 
Transaction costs 17(b) (2,960) - - (2,960) 
Cost of share based payments 17(d) - 15,561 - 15,561 
  297,040 15,561 - 312,601 
Balance at 30 June 2019  52,621,691 10,549,482 (56,502,383) 6,668,790 

 
The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
 
  

Note 
Consolidated 

 2020 
$ 

2019 
$ 

 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

   

Payment to suppliers and employees  (786,585) (1,149,857) 
Interest received  6,028 13,701 
Interest paid  (180,123) (350,000) 
Other income 4(a) 82,748 - 
    
Net cash (outflow)/inflows from operating activities 7(b) (877,932) (1,486,156) 
    
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    
Payments for purchase of plant and office equipment 11 (233) (5,575) 
Proceeds from sale of plant and office equipment 4(b) 6,059 4,925 
Redemption of security deposits  - 10,400 
Exploration and evaluation expenditure  (337,475) (214,909) 
Loan to related party  - (122,336) 
    
Net cash (outflow)/inflows from investing activities  (331,649) (327,495) 
    
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
Net proceeds from issue of shares 17(b) 1,894,134 300,000 
Share issue costs  (181,417) (2,960) 
Proceeds from borrowings  200,000 - 
Repayment of borrowings  (100,000) - 
    
Net cash inflow from financing activities  1,812,717 297,040 
    
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents held  603,136 (1,516,611) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year   

227,736 
 

1,744,347 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 7(a) 830,872 227,736 

 
 

The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 1. CORPORATE INFORMATION  
  

The consolidated financial statements of Magnetite Mines Limited (Company) comprise the Company and its subsidiaries 
(together referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2020 was authorised for issue in accordance with a 
resolution of the directors on 24 September 2020. Magnetite Mines Limited is a company limited by shares incorporated 
and domiciled in Australia whose shares are publicly traded on the Australian Securities Exchange Ltd.  
 
Separate financial statements of Magnetite Mines Limited as an individual entity are no longer presented as the 
consequence of a change on the Corporations Act 2001, however required financial information for Magnetite Mines 
Limited as an individual entity is included in note 10. 

   
 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
   
 (a) Basis of Preparation 
   
  The financial report is a general-purpose financial report, which has been prepared in accordance with the 

requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and Australian Accounting Standards (including Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations). 
 
The financial report has also been prepared on a historical basis and the accruals basis modified where applicable 
by the measurement at fair value of selected non-current assets, financial assets and financial liabilities. 

   
  Going Concern 
     The accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis, which contemplates continuity of normal business 

activities and the realisation of assets and liabilities in the normal course of business. 
 

The Group recorded a loss of $373,511 (2019: loss $1,344,664) for the year ended 30 June 2020. Total exploration 
expenditure written off for the year is $181,814 (2019: $13,180) and no provision for impairment was made. The 
Group had cash assets of $830,872 at 30 June 2020 (2019: $227,736). The net working capital surplus is $553,122 
(2019: Net working capital deficiency $2,520,639). The directors believe the going concern basis of preparation is 
appropriate. 

   
  On the 4 September 2020 the Company announced a renounceable pro rata offer to eligible shareholders of one 

(1) new share for every four (4) shares held on the record date at an issue price of $0.01 per new share, together 
with one (1) attaching quoted option for every two (2) new shares subscribed for (exercisable at $0.05 each on or 
before 29 October 2021), to raise approximately $5.65 million. The Rights Issue is partially underwritten by Mahe 
Capital Pty Ltd for an amount of $4,000,000. The Rights Issue closes at 5:00pm (WST) on Tuesday, 29 September 
2020. 

   
  The Directors consider these funds, combined with additional funds from any capital raising to be sufficient for the 

planned expenditure on the exploration projects for the ensuing 12 months as well as for corporate and 
administrative overhead costs. 

   
  The Directors also believe that they have the capacity to raise additional capital should that become necessary. For 

these reasons, the Directors believe the going concern basis of preparation is appropriate. 
   
  Statement of compliance 
   
  The financial report complies with Australian Accounting Standards, which include Australian equivalents to 

International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS). The Consolidated financial report also complies with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

  Principles of Consolidation 
   

  The consolidated financial statements incorporate all of the assets, liabilities and results of the parent Magnetite 
Mines Limited and all of the subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are entities the parent controls. The parent controls an entity 
when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to 
affect those returns through its power over the entity. A list of the subsidiaries is provided in Note 9. 

The assets, liabilities and results of all subsidiaries are fully consolidated into the financial statements of the Group 
from the date on which control is obtained by the Group. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
  

  Principles of Consolidation (continued) 
   

  The consolidation of a subsidiary is discontinued from the date that control ceases. Intercompany transactions, 
balances and unrealised gains or losses on transactions between Group entities are fully eliminated on 
consolidation. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed and adjustments made where necessary to 
ensure uniformity of the accounting policies adopted by the Group. 
 
Equity interests in a subsidiary not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Group are presented as “non controlling 
interests". The Group initially recognises non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests in 
subsidiaries and are entitled to a proportionate share of the subsidiary's net assets on liquidation at either fair value 
or at the non-controlling interests' proportionate share of the subsidiary's net assets. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, non-controlling interests are attributed their share of profit or loss and each component of other 
comprehensive income. Non-controlling interests are shown separately within the equity section of the statement of 
financial position and statement of comprehensive income. 

   
 (b) Adoption of New and Revised Accounting Standards 
   
  The Group has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian 

Accounting Standards Board (the AASB) that are relevant to their operations and effective for the current reporting 
period. 

New and revised Standards and amendments thereof and Interpretations effective for the current year that are 
relevant to the Group include: 

• AASB 16: Leases applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. 
This Standard supersedes AASB 117 Leases, Interpretation 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a 
Lease, AASB interpretation 115 Operating Leases-Incentives and AASB interpretation 127 Evaluating the 
Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of Lease. AASB 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, 
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to account for all leases under a single 
on-balance sheet model similar to the accounting for finance leases under AASB 117. 
The key features of AASB 16 are as follows: 

• Lessees are required to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, 
unless the underlying asset is of low value; 

• A lessee measures right-of-use assets similarly to other non-financial assets and lease liabilities similarly 
to other financial liabilities;  

• Assets and liabilities Assets and Liabilities arising from the lease are initially measured on a present value 
basis. The measurement includes non-cancellable lease payments (including inflation-linked payments), 
(including inflation-linked payments) and also includes payments to be made in optional periods if the 
lessee is reasonably certain to exercise an option to extend the lease, or not to exercise an option to 
terminate the lease; and 

• AASB 16 contains disclosure requirements for leases. 
 
Lessor accounting 

• AASB16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in AASB 117. Accordingly, a 
lessor continues to classify its leases as operating leases or finance leases and to account for those two 
types of leases differently; 
 

• AASB16 also requires enhanced disclosures to be provided by lessors that will improve information 
disclosed about a lessor’s risk exposure, particularly to residual value risk. 

 
During the year, the Group had 2 Leases which could be cancelled on 2 to 6 months notice with a total obligation of 
$19,000. The adoption of AASB 16 does not have any impact on the financial report. 
 
The first adoption of AASB 16 Leases has had no impact on the disclosures or the amounts recognised in the 
Group’s consolidated financial statements since the Group does not have any operating leases which are more 
than 12 months. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
   
 (c) Other Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations on issue but not yet effective 
   

There are no standards that are not yet effective and that would be expected to have a material impact on the 
entity in the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions. 

   
 (d) Significant accounting estimates and assumptions 
   

The carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities are often determined based on estimates and assumptions of 
future events.  The key estimate and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to 
the carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting period are: 
 
Share based payment transactions 
The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the 
equity instruments at the date at which they are granted.  The fair value is determined by an external valuer using 
a Black-Scholes option pricing model, using the assumptions detailed in note 20. 
 
Mineral Exploration and Evaluation 
Exploration and evaluation expenditure is accumulated in respect of each identifiable area of interest. The carrying 
values are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not 
be recoverable. A provision for impairment is based on the directors’ best estimate of recoverable value. 
 
Exploration and evaluation costs may be carried forward in respect of an area that has not at balance sheet date 
reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable 
reserves, and active operations in or relating to, the area of interest are continuing. 
 
Subsidiary Intercompany Loans 
Provisions for write off of intercompany loans are made where there is significant uncertainty as to whether the loans 
are recoverable. 
 
Recovery of Deferred Tax assets 
Judgment is required in determining whether deferred tax assets are recognised in the balance sheet.  Deferred tax 
assets, including those arising from un-utilised tax losses require management to assess the likelihood that the 
Group will generate taxable earnings in future periods, in order to utilise recognised deferred tax assets.  Deferred 
tax assets will not be recognised until the Group is able to generate a net taxable income. 
 
Estimates of future taxable income will be based on forecast cash flows from operations and the application of 
existing tax laws in each jurisdiction. To the extent that future cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from 
estimates, the ability of the Group to realise the net deferred tax assets recorded at the reporting date could be 
impacted. 
 
Additionally, future changes in tax laws in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates could limit the ability of the 
Group to obtain tax deductions in future periods. 
 

 (e) Cash and cash equivalents 
   

Cash and short-term deposits in the Statement of Financial Position comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-
term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. 
 
For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flow, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents 
as detailed above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. 
 

 (f) Trade and other receivables 

   

Trade receivables, which generally have 30-90 day terms, are recognised and carried at original invoice amount 
less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts. Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of 
consideration that is unconditional unless they contain significant financing components when they are recognised 
at fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables with the objective to collect contractual cashflows and therefore 
measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Details about the Group’s 
impairment policies and calculations of the loss allowance are provided in note 2(y).  
 
An allowance for doubtful debts is made when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect 
the debts.  Bad debts are written off when identified. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
   

 (g) Income tax 
     Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be 

recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.  The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those 
that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. 

     Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. Deferred income tax liabilities are 
recognised for all taxable temporary differences except: 

• when the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability 
in a transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither 
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; or 

• when the taxable temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or 
interests in joint ventures, and the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and 
it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

   
 (h) Other taxes 
   

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of amount of GST except: 

• when the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in 
which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the assets or as part of the expense item 
as applicable; and 

• receivables and payables, which are stated with the amount of GST included. 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or 
payables in the Statement of Financial Position. 

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows 
arising from investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority, are 
classified as operating cash flows. 

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the 
taxation authority. 

   
 (i) Plant and equipment 
   

Plant and equipment is stated at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. 

Depreciation 
The depreciable amount of all fixed assets is depreciated on a diminishing value basis over their useful lives to the 
Group commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use. 

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are: 
Plant and equipment – over 4 to 10 years 
Motor vehicles – over 4 years 
Office equipment – over 3 years 

Impairment 
The carrying values of plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances 
indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. 

For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

If any such indication exists and where the carrying value exceeds the estimated recoverable amount, the assets or 
cash-generating units are written down to their recoverable amount. 

The recoverable amount of plant and equipment is the greater of fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the item value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected 
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as 
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included in the income 
statement in the period the item is being derecognised. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
   
 (j) Intangibles 
   
  Intangible assets are made up of licences and software and are stated at cost less any accumulated amortisation 

and any impairment value. 
 
The amortisation of all intangible assets are amortised on a straight line basis over two years of their useful lives 
to the Group commencing from the time that assets is held ready for use. 

   
 (k) Exploration, evaluation and development expenditure 
   
  Exploration, evaluation and development costs are accumulated in respect of each separate area of interest.  

Exploration and evaluation costs are carried forward where right of tenure of the area of interest is current and 
they are expected to be recouped through sale or successful development and exploitation of the area of interest 
or, where exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not yet reached a stage that permits 
reasonable assessment of the existence of economically recoverable reserves.  When an area of interest is 
abandoned or the directors decide that it is not commercial, any accumulated costs in respect of that area are 
written off in the financial period the decision was made. 
 
Each area of interest is also reviewed at the end of each accounting period and accumulated costs written off to 
the extent that they may not be recoverable in the future.  Amortisation is not charged on costs carried forward 
in respect of areas of interest in the development phase until production commences.  

   
 (l) Trade and other payables 
   
  Trade payables and other payables are carried at amortised costs and represent liabilities for goods and services 

provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Group becomes 
obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and services. 

   
  Trade payables and other payables are carried at cost which is the fair value of the consideration to be paid in 

the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the Group. 
   
 (m) Provisions 
   
  Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 

event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligations and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
 
When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, 
the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain.  The 
expense relating to any provision is presented in the income statement net of any reimbursement.  
 
If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that 
reflects the risks specific to the liability.  When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the 
passage of time is recognised as a borrowing cost. 
 

 (n) Earnings per share 
   

(i) Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is calculated by dividing the net profit/loss attributable to members for the 
reporting period, after excluding any costs of servicing equity, by the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares of the Company, adjusted for any bonus issue. 

 
(ii) Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing the basic EPS, adjusted by the after tax effect of financing costs 

associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the effect on net revenues and expenses of conversion 
to ordinary shares associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares and dilutive potential ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus issue. 

   
 (o) Contributed equity 
   

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or 
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
   
 (p) Borrowing costs 
   
  Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense when incurred. Alternatively, borrowing costs can be capitalised for 

qualifying assets. 
   
 (q) Leases 
   
  Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the 

lease term. Lease incentives are recognised in the income statement as an integral part of the total lease expense. 
 
The first adoption of AASB 16 Leases has had no impact on the disclosures or the amounts recognised in the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements since the Group does not have any operating leases which are more than 12 
months. 
 
During the year, the Group had 2 Leases which could be cancelled on 2 to 6 months notice with a total obligation of 
$19,000. The adoption of AASB 16 does not have any impact on the financial report. 

   
 (r) Impairment of assets 
   
  The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired.  If any such 

indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the 
asset’s recoverable amount.  An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its 
value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely 
independent of those from other assets or group of assets and the asset’s value in use cannot be estimated to be 
close to its fair value.  In such cases the asset is tested for impairment as part of the cash-generating unit to which it 
belongs.  When the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset 
or cash-generating unit is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 
 
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  
Impairment losses relating to continuing operations are recognised in those expense categories consistent with the 
function of the impaired asset unless the asset is carried at revalued amount (in which case the impairment loss is 
treated as a revaluation decrease). 

   
  An assessment is also made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised 

impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.  If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is 
estimated.  A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates 
used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised.   
 
If that is the case the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount.  That increased amount 
cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss 
been recognised for the asset in prior years.  Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss unless the asset is carried 
at revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as revaluation increase.  After such a reversal the 
depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual 
value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life. 

   
 (s) Investments 
   

All investments are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration given and including acquisition 
charges associated with the investment. 
 
For investments which are deemed financial instruments, please refer to note 2(y). 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
   
 (t) Share-based payment transactions 
   
  In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any performance conditions, other than conditions linked 

to the price of the shares of the Company (market conditions) if applicable. 
The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period 
in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees 
become fully entitled to the award (the vesting period). 

The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until vesting date reflects: 

(i) the extent to which the vesting period has expired; and 
(ii) the Company’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. 

No adjustment is made for the likelihood of market performance conditions being met as the effect of these conditions 
is included in the determination of fair value at grant date.  The income statement charge or credit for a period 
represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of the period. 

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is only conditional 
upon a market condition. 

If the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not 
been modified.  In addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value of the 
share-based payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee, as measured at the date of 
modification. 

If an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense 
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.  However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled 
award and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new award are treated 
as if they were a modification of the original award, as described in the previous paragraph. 

The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of earnings 
per share (see note 6). 
 
(1) Cash settled transaction 

The Group may provide benefits to employees in the form of cash-settled share-based payments, whereby 
employees render services in exchange for cash, the amounts of which are determined by reference to 
movements in the price of the shares of the Company. 

The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of 
earnings per share (see note 6). 

The cost of cash-settled transactions is measured initially at fair value at the grant date using the Black-Scholes 
formula taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the instruments were granted (see note 20).  
This fair value is expensed over the period until vesting with recognition of a corresponding liability. The liability 
is remeasured to fair value at each balance sheet date up to and including the settlement date with changes 
in fair value recognised in profit or loss. 

 
(2) Equity settled transactions 

The Group provides benefits to employees (including senior executives) of the Group in the form of share-
based payments, whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (equity-
settled transactions). 
 
There is currently one plan in place the employee option share plan, which provides benefits to all employees, 
excluding directors. 

 
The cost of these equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value of the 
equity instruments at the date at which they are granted.  The fair value is determined by an external valuer or 
internally using a Black-Scholes option pricing model, further details of which are given in note 20. 

   
 (u) Comparatives 
   

When required by accounting standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in 
presentation for the current financial year. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
   
 (v) Foreign Currency Translation 
   
  Functional and present currency 

The functional currency of the Company is measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in 
which the Company operates. The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars which is the Company’s 
functional and presentation currency. The functional currency of all subsidiaries is Australian dollars. 

   
  Transaction and balance 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the date 
of the transaction.  Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the year end exchange rate.  Non-monetary 
items measured at historical costs continued to be carried at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-
monetary items measured at fair value are reported at the exchange rate at the date when fair values were 
determined. 

   
  Group companies 

The financial results and position of foreign operations whose functional currency is different from the Group’s 
presentation currency are translated as follows: 
 
Assets and liabilities are translated at year-end exchange rates prevailing at that reporting date. Income and expenses 
are translated at average exchange rates for the period. Retained profits are translated at the exchange rates 
prevailing at the date of the transaction. 

   
 (w) Revenue recognition 
   
  The Group has applied AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers using the cumulative effective method. 

The Group does not have any revenue from contracts with customers. 
   
  Other Income 

During the current year the Company renegotiated with the Liquidator of Mintech Resources Pty Ltd (Mintech) to 
amend the terms of the redeemable convertible notes (Notes) held by Mintech. The significant reduction in the face 
value of the Notes follows agreement with the liquidators of Mintech that certain amounts agreed to be paid to Mintech 
(including the extension fee payment of $250,000) be offset against a larger amount that Mintech was obligated to 
pay the Company in connection with the Company's costs of historical litigation in respect of the Razorback Project 
from 2010-2012. This resulted in recognising as other revenue. 

   
  COVID-19 Cashflow boost 

During the current year the Company has shown $62,500 relating to the cashflow boost which was recognised under 
other revenue. 

   
  Interest income 

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Group and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably.  Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference 
to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash receipts though the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on 
initial recognition. 

   
 (x) Interests in Joint Arrangements 
   
  Joint arrangements represent the contractual sharing of control between parties in a business venture where 

unanimous decisions about relevant activities are required. 
 
Separate joint venture entities providing joint venturers with an interest to net assets are classified as a "joint venture" 
and accounted for using the equity method. 
 
Joint venture operations represent arrangements whereby joint operators maintain direct interests in each asset and 
exposure to each liability of the arrangement. 
 
The Group's interests in the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of joint operations are included in the respective 
line items of the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Gains and losses resulting from sales to a joint operation are recognised to the extent of the other parties' interests. 
When the Group makes purchases from a joint operation, it does not recognise its share of the gains and losses from 
the joint arrangement until it resells those goods/assets to a third party. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
   
 (y) Financial Instruments  
   
  Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions 

of the financial instrument.  Financial instruments (except for trade receivables) are measured initially at fair value 
adjusted by transaction costs, except for those carried at ‘fair value through profit or loss’, in which case transaction 
costs are expensed to profit or loss.  Where available, quoted prices in an active market are used to determine the 
fair value. In other circumstances, valuation techniques are adopted. Subsequent measurement of financial assets 
and financial liabilities are described below. 

   
  Trade receivables are initially measured at the transaction price if the receivables do not contain a significant financing 

component in accordance with AASB 15. 
 
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or 
when the financial asset and all substantial risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability is derecognised 
when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expired. 

   
  Classification and measurement 
   
  Financial assets 
  Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component and are measured at the 

transaction price in accordance with AASB 15, all financial assets are initially measured at fair value adjusted for 
transaction costs (where applicable). 
 
For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets other than those designated and effective as hedging 
instruments are classified into the following categories upon initial recognition: 
• amortised cost; 
• fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); and 
• fair value through profit or loss (FVPL). 

   
  Classifications are determined by both: 

• the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets; and 
• the Group’s business model for managing the financial asset. 

   
  Financial assets at amortisation cost 
  Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet with the following conditions (and are not 

designated as FVPL); 
• they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect its contractual 

cash flows; and 
• the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 

interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
   
  After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  Discounting is 

omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial.  The Group’s cash and cash equivalents, trade and most other 
receivables fall into this category of financial instruments. 

   
  Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 
  The Group measures debt instruments at fair value through OCI if both of the following conditions are met: 

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding; and 

• the financial asset is held within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash 
flows and selling the financial asset. 

 
  For debt instruments at fair value through OCI, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and impairment 

losses or reversals are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for 
financial assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognised in OCI. 

   

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity instruments 
designated at fair value through OCI when they meet the definition of equity under AASB 132 Financial Instruments: 
Presentation and are not held for trading. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
   
 (y) Financial Instruments (continued) 
   
  Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss (FVPL) 
  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, financial assets designated 

upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss or financial assets mandatorily required to be measured at 
fair value.  Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or 
repurchasing in the near term. 

   
  Financial liabilities 
  Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans 

and borrowings, payables or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. 
 
Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs unless 
the Group designated a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss. 

   
  Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method except for 

derivatives and financial liabilities designated at FVPL, which are carried subsequently at fair value with gains or 
losses recognised in profit or loss. 
 
All interest-related charges and, if applicable, gains and losses arising on changes in fair value are recognised in 
profit or loss. 

   
  Impairment 
  From 1 July 2018, the Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit loss associated with its debt 

instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI.  The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there 
has been a significant increase in credit risk.  For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach 
permitted by AASB, which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the 
receivables. 

   
  Fair value hierarchy 

AASB 13 requires the disclosure of fair value information by level of the fair value hierarchy, which categorises fair 
value measurements into one of three possible levels based on the lowest level that an input that is significant to the 
measurement can be categorised into as follows: 

   
  Level 1 

Measurements based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity 
can access at the measurement date. 
 
Level 2 
Measurements based on inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly. 
 
Level 3 
Measurements based on unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 

   
  The fair values of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market are determined using one or more 

valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent possible, the use of observable market 
data. If all significant inputs required to measure fair value are observable, the asset or liability is included in Level 2. 
If one or more significant inputs are not based on observable market data, the asset or liability is included in Level 3. 
 
The Group would change the categorisation within the fair value hierarchy only in the following circumstances: 
 
(i) if a market that was previously considered active (Level 1) became inactive (Level 2 or Level 3) or vice versa; 

or 
(ii) if significant inputs that were previously unobservable (Level 3) became observable (Level 2) or vice versa. 

   
  When a change in the categorisation occurs, the Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy 

(i.e. transfers into and out of each level of the fair value hierarchy) on the date the event or change in circumstances 
occurred. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
 
3. SEGMENT INFORMATION 
   
 The Group operates in the mineral exploration industry in Australia.  For management purposes, the Group is 

organised into one main operating segment which involves the exploration of minerals in Australia.  All of the Group’s 
activities are interrelated and discrete financial information is reported to the Board (Chief Operating Decision Maker) 
as a single segment.  Accordingly, all significant operating decisions are based upon analysis of the Group as one 
segment. The financial results from this segment are equivalent to the financial statements of the Group as a whole. 

 
 Consolidated (Australia) 
 2020 

$ 
2019 

$ 
Segment revenue   
Other income 1,037,394 - 
Finance revenue 1,671 15,552 
Total revenue 1,039,065 15,552 

   
Segment result   
Segment result (373,511) (1,344,664) 
Intersegment elimination - - 
Gain/(Loss) before income tax (373,511) (1,344,664) 
Income tax expense  - - 
Gain/(Loss) for the year (373,511) (1,344,664) 
   
Segment assets and liabilities   
Segment assets 10,424,401 9,432,079 
Intersegment elimination - - 
Total assets 10,424,401 9,432,079 
    
Segment liabilities 2,285,127 2,763,289 
Intersegment elimination - - 
Total liabilities 2,285,127 2,763,289 
   
Other segment information   
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment and intangibles 233 5,575 
Depreciation and amortisation  9,980 15,468 
Non-recovery of loan to related party - 21,976 
Impairment expense on exploration assets - - 

 
  Consolidated 
  2020 

$ 
2019 

$ 
4.  OTHER REVENUE AND EXPENSES   
    
(a) Other income   
 Interest received 1,671 15,552 
 ATO COVID Cashflow Boost received 62,500 - 
 Re-imbursement of legal fees incurred in the previous years by Mintech  954,646 - 
 Income tax benefit – R & D grant 20,248 - 
  1,039,065 15,552 
    
(b) Loss on disposal of fixed asset   
 Proceeds from disposal of plant and office equipment 6,059 4,477 
 Less: carrying amounts of plant and office equipment sold (1,606) (10,660) 
 Net gain/(loss) on disposal of plant and office equipment 4,453 (6,183) 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
 
  Consolidated 
  2020 

$ 
2019 

$ 
5.  INCOME TAX 

 
  

(a) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable   
    
 Profit/(Loss) from ordinary activities before income tax expense (373,511) (1,344,664) 
 Prima facie tax benefit on loss from ordinary activities at 27.5% (2019 – 

27.5%) 
 

(102,716) 
 

(369,783) 
    
 Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible (taxable) in calculating 

taxable income: 
  

 Entertainment and other 541 1,100 
 R&D Tax refund (5,568) - 
 Fines & penalties - - 
 Share based payments 17,517 4,279 
  (90,226) (364,404) 
    
 Movement in current year temporary differences (177,112) (496,016) 
 Tax effect of current year tax losses & non-recognition of previously 

recognised deferred tax assets 267,338 860,420 
 Income tax expense/(benefit) - - 
    
    
(b) Unrecognised temporary differences Deferred Tax Assets (27.5%) (2019 – 

27.5%) 
  

 Impairment and depreciation of assets in joint venture - - 
 Capitalised tenement acquisition costs - - 
 Investments - - 
 Capital raising costs 161,728 204,765 
 Provisions for expenses 47,988 64,923 
 Carry forward revenue losses 10,828,829 10,561,491 
 Carry forward capital losses 2,723,210 2,723,210 
  13,761,755 13,554,389 
(c) Deferred Tax Liabilities (27.5%) (2019 – 27.5%)   
 Unearned revenue 120 6 
 Prepayments 2,642 1,804 
 Mineral exploration 2,612,732 2,507,386 
 Net Deferred Tax Asset (Liability) 2,615,494 2,509,196 
    
    

 
Potential future income tax benefits attributable to total tax losses amounting to approximately $13,552,039 (2019: 
$13,284,701) at 2020 corporate tax rate of 27.5% (2019: 27.5%), have not been brought to account at 30 June 2020 
because the directors do not believe it is appropriate to regard realisation of the future income tax benefits as probable. 
 
The potential future income tax benefit will be obtainable by the Group only if: 
 
(a) the Group derives future assessable income of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the benefit of the 

deductions for the loss to be realised; 
(b) the Group continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by income tax law; and 
(c) no changes in income tax legislation adversely affects the Group in realising the benefit of the deduction for the 

loss. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
 

  Consolidated 
  2020 

Cents 
2019 
cents 

6.  EARNINGS PER SHARE   
(a) Basic earnings/(loss) per share (cents per share) (0.03) (0.18) 
(b) Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (cents per share) (0.03) (0.18) 

    
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into 
account the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary 
shares and the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation 
to dilutive potential ordinary shares. 

 
(c) Net profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders ($) (373,511) (1,344,664) 

    
(d) Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year used in the calculation: 

 - basic earnings per share 1,143,302,107 746,211,453 
 - diluted earnings per share 1,143,302,107 746,211,453 
    
 Consolidated 
 2020 

$ 
2020 

$ 
7.  CASH FLOW INFORMATION   

(a) Cash and cash equivalents represents:   
 Cash in bank and on hand 330,872 47,965 
 Short term deposits 500,000 179,771 
  830,872 227,736 
    

(b) Reconciliation of net cash used in operating activities to operating profit/(loss) after income tax 
    
 Operating profit/(loss) after income tax (373,511) (1,344,664) 
    
 Non cash flows in operating loss   
 Exploration costs written-off  181,814 13,180 
 Amortisation and depreciation 9,980 15,468 
 Reimbursement of legal fee – Non cash (954,646) - 
 Share based payments – note 17 (d) 74,916 15,561 
 Convertible loan note extension fee – Non cash 250,000 - 
 (Profit)/Loss on sale of plant and equipment (4,454) 6,183 
 Non recovery of related party loan - 21,976 
    
 Change in assets and liabilities    
 (Decrease)/increase in trade, other payables and provisions (44,568) (308,496) 
 (Increase)/decrease in receivables  (17,463) 94,636 
 Net cash outflow from/(used in) operating activities (877,932) (1,486,156) 
    
 Non cash flows investing and financing activities 

In the current year there are no non cash financing and investing activities. 
  
8. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CURRENT)   

(a) GST receivable 22,313 7,601 
 Prepayments 9,607 6,559 
 Sundry debtors (1) 457 754 

  32,377 14,914 
 

The were no amounts receivable from directors and director related entities in 2020 and 2019. 
 

Note1: Other receivables are non-interest bearing and generally on 30-90 day terms. An allowance for doubtful 
debts is made when there is objective evidence that a trade receivable is impaired. As at 30 June 2020 
no amounts are impaired or past due. 
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  Consolidated 
  2020 

$ 
2019 

$ 
   

8. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (NON CURRENT)   
   

(b) Security deposits/bonds 32,588 32,588 
   

 
9. CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
 

  

 
Percentage Interest 

Held 

Carrying amount of 
Parent Entity’s 

Investment 
  

Name 
Country of 

Incorporation 
2020 

% 
2019 

% 
2020 

$ 
2019 

$ 
 Razorback Iron Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 20 20 
 Razorback Operations Pty Ltd  Australia 100 100 20 20 
 Red Dragon Mining Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 20 20 
 Ironback Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 100 100 

 
 

2020 
$ 

2019 
$ 

10. PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES   
    
 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION   
    
 ASSETS   
 Current Assets 863,229 242,630 
 Non-Current Assets 225,231 211,203 
 Total Assets 1,088,460 453,833 
    
 LIABILITIES   
 Current Liabilities (310,127) (2,763,289) 
 Non-Current Liabilities (1,975,000) - 
 Total Liabilities (2,285,127) (2,763,289) 
 Net (Liabilities)/Assets (1,196,667) (2,309,456) 
    
 EQUITY   
 Contributed equity 54,390,770 52,621,691 
 Reserves 10,624,398 10,549,482 
 Accumulated losses (66,211,835) (65,480,629) 
 Total Equity/(Deficiency) (1,196,667) (2,309,456) 
    
 Profit or loss and other comprehensive income   
 Net profit/ (loss) from continuing operations for the year (731,206) (1,578,106) 
 Total Comprehensive income/(loss) for the year (731,206) (1,578,106) 
    
 Mineral tenement expenditure commitments   
 Within one year 57,549 1,697,394 
 Later than one year but not later than five years 5,860,000 2,020,000 
 Later than five years - - 
  5,917,549 3,717,394 
    
 The commitments relate to the Company and its subsidiaries as the Company funds its subsidiaries’ activities. 

There are no guarantee/contingences and subsequent events other than those mentioned above in this report. 
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 Consolidated 
 2020 

$ 
2019 

$ 
11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT   

    
 Plant and equipment, at cost 318,140 365,407 
 Less: accumulated depreciation (296,497) (337,125) 
  21,643 28,282 
    
 Office equipment, at cost 79,839 82,447 
 Less: accumulated depreciation (73,869) (71,871) 
  5,970 10,576 
 Total property, plant and equipment 27,613 38,858 
    
 Reconciliations   
    
 Reconciliation of the carrying amounts of each class of property, plant and 

equipment at the beginning and end of the current financial year are set out 
below: 

  

     Plant and equipment   
 Carrying amount at the beginning of the year 28,282 37,812 
 Additions 233 - 
 Disposal (162) - 
 Depreciation (6,710) (9,530) 
 Carrying amount at the end of the year 21,643 28,282 
    
 Office equipment   
 Carrying amount at the beginning of the year 10,576 21,385 
 Additions - 5,575 
 Disposal (1,444) (10,319) 
 Depreciation (3,162) (6,065) 
 Carrying amount at the end of the year 5,970 10,576 
 Total carrying amount at the end of the year 27,613 38,858 

 
 

   Consolidated 
   2020 

$ 
2019 

$ 
12. EXPLORATION EXPENDITURE 

(NON-CURRENT) 
  

    
 Exploration and evaluation   
    
 At 1 July 2019 9,117,768 8,884,326 
 Expenditure incurred during the year 564,890 246,622 
 Expenditure provided or written off during the year  (181,814) (13,180) 
 At 30 June 2020 9,500,844 9,117,768 
    
 The value of the Group’s interest in exploration expenditure is dependent upon: 

• the continuance of the Group’s rights to tenure of the areas of interest; 
• the results of future exploration; and 
• the recoupment of costs through successful development and exploitation of the areas of interest, or 

alternatively, by their sale. 

The Group’s exploration properties may be subject to claim(s) under native title, or contain sacred sites, or sites of 
significance to Aboriginal people. As a result, exploration properties or areas within the tenements may be subject 
to exploration restrictions, mining restrictions and/or claims for compensation. At this time, it is not possible to 
quantify whether such claims exist, or the quantum of such claims. 
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 Consolidated 
 2020 

$ 
2019 

$ 
13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS   

    
 Software and licences, at cost 199,719 199,719 
 Less: accumulated amortisation (199,612) (199,504) 
  107 215 
    
 Reconciliation   
    
 Reconciliation of the carrying amount of intangible assets at the beginning and end of the financial year are set out 

below: 
    
 Carrying amount at 1 July 2019 215 429 
 Additions - - 
 Disposal - - 
 Depreciation (108) (214) 
 Carrying amount at 30 June 2020 107 215 

 
 

   Consolidated 
   2020 

$ 
2019 

$ 
     
     

14. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CURRENT)   
    
 Trade payables (1) 39,370 37,801 
 Accruals (2) 107,188 165,760 
  146,558 203,561 
    
 Note 1 - Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-60 day terms 
 Note 2 – Includes interest accrued on Mintech Convertible loan note of $82,307 
    
    

15. PROVISIONS (CURRENT)   
    
 Employee benefits – Annual Leave 48,419 47,783 
 Employee benefits – Long Service Leave 13,068 11,945 
 Total 61,487 59,728 

 
    

16. BORROWINGS (CURRENT)   
    
 Unsecured loan (1) 102,082 - 
 Convertible Notes (2) - 2,500,000 
  102,082 2,500,000 
    
 Balance at beginning of year 2,500,000 - 
 Interest accrued during the year 7,205 - 
 Borrowings 200,000 - 
 Repayments (105,123) - 
 Reclassification of convertible loan during the year (2,500,000) 2,500,000 
 Balance at end of year 102,082 2,500,000 
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Note 1: On 16 September 2019, the Company’s Executive Chairman, Peter Schubert, provided the Company with 

an unsecured loan of $200,000 pursuant to a Convertible Loan Agreement to assist the Company with 
general working capital requirements.  Interest was accrued on the Loan at the rate of 5% per annum. 
Interest which accrued on the Loan was capitalised and was payable on the earlier of: 

i. the date on which the Loan is repaid in full; and 
ii. the repayment date. 

The Loan was repayable in cash on the date that is six months after the date of the Convertible Loan (or 
such later date as may be agreed between the parties in writing). The Chairman could elect to convert all 
or part of the Loan and any interest amount into fully paid ordinary shares at the price equal to a 10% 
discount to the VWAP for the 15 Trading Days prior to the date of the conversion notice. The conversion 
right is subject to and conditional upon the Company obtaining the approval of its members in general 
meeting by the requisite majority for the purposes of ASX Listing Rule 10.11 and section 208 of the 
Corporations Act.  

On 16 March 2020, the parties agreed that the repayment date under the Convertible Loan Agreement was 
extended to 16 September 2020 (or such later date as may be further agreed by the parties in writing). An 
interest payment of $5,123 was paid on 23 March 2020. On 4 May 2020, a partial repayment of $100,000 
of this loan was made to Peter Schubert. 

On 16 September 2020, the Company repaid the remaining balance of the loan including interest totalling 
$103,151. 

 
Note 2: On 4 September 2019, the Company entered into a Heads of Agreement (HOA) with the liquidators of 

Mintech Resources Pty Ltd (in liquidation) (Mintech) to amend the terms of the redeemable convertible 
notes (Notes) held by Mintech.  

Pursuant to the HOA, the parties have agreed to adjust the face value of the Notes from $2,500,000 to 
$1,975,000 by agreeing to certain offsets to which the Company is entitled and by incorporating and 
deferring payments due on the following terms: 

a) the Redeemable Convertible Notes have a maturity date of 31 August 2023; 
b) interest of 5% per annum, payable 12 months in arrears on the anniversary from the issue date; 
c) at least 5 days before maturity or redemption of the Redeemable Convertible Notes the Company can 

elect the: 
 

(i) Redeemable Convertible Notes be redeemed by cash equivalent to the face value of the 
Redeemable Convertible Notes; 

(ii) Redeemable Convertible Notes convert into fully paid ordinary shares in the Company 
equivalent to the face value of the Redeemable Convertible Notes at a price equivalent to the 
Company’s VWAP over 90 consecutive days; 

(iii) Redeemable Convertible Notes convert into a combination of cash and fully paid ordinary shares 
as defined in (i) and (ii).  

 
  
   Consolidated 
   2020 

$ 
2019 

$ 
     
 BORROWINGS (NON-CURRENT)   
    
 Convertible Notes 1,975,000 - 
  1,975,000 - 
    
 Balance at beginning of year - 2,500,000 
 Reclassification of loan during the year 2,500,000 (2,500,000) 
 Repayments (Adjustment to face value) (525,000) - 
 Balance at end of year 1,975,000 - 
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17. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY AND RESERVES     

  Number of Shares Consolidated 
  2020 

 
2019 

 
2020 

$ 
2019 

$ 
 (a)     Issued and paid up capital      
          Ordinary shares         2,246,041,255 798,649,809 54,390,770 52,621,691 

 
 

(b)     Movement in ordinary shares on issue  
Number of 

Shares 
Issue Price 

 $ 
Total 

$ 
     

Balance at 30 June 2018  738,649,809  52,324,651 
Placement  60,000,000 0.005 300,000 
Share issue costs  -  (2,960) 
Balance at 30 June 2019  798,649,809  52,621,691 
     
Shares issued to M Eames (1)  894,454 0.00559 5,000 
Shares issued to M Eames (2)  2,554,086 0.00416 10,625 
Shares issued to M Eames (3)  2,591,463 0.00615 15,938 
Shares issued to M Eames (4)  2,531,828 0.00432 10,938 
Placement  50,000,000 0.004 200,000 
Share Purchase Plan  103,250,000 0.004 413,000 
Shares issued to M Eames (5)  2,916,666 0.006 17,500 
Shares issued to M Eames (6)  1,518,662 0.00499 7,578 
Renounceable rights issue  1,206,134,287 0.001 1,206,134 
Placement  75,000,000 0.001 75,000 
Share issue costs  -  (192,634) 
Balance at 30 June 2020  2,246,041,255  54,390,770 

   
Notes 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6 In accordance with a Consulting Agreement between the Company and Mark Eames 
dated 13 May 2019, the Company could elect to issue shares in the capital of the Company in lieu of a cash 
payment for the services provided. The issue price being the volume weighted average price of the Company’s 
shares for the last 15 trading days of the month that consulting services were provided.   
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17. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY AND RESERVES (continued)     

 
(c)   Movement in options on issue  

 
The following table summarises the movement in options on issue for the year ended 30 June 2020 

 
 
30 June 2020 

Balance at the 
Beginning of 

the Year 

Issued  
During the 

Year 

Exercised 
During the 

Year 

Expired 
During the 

Year 

Balance at the 
End of the Year 

Unquoted options exercisable at 4.5 cents each on or before 5 August 2019 8,000,000 - - (8,000,000) - 

Unquoted options exercisable at 2 cents each on or before 26 November 2020 10,000,000 - - - 10,000,000 
Unquoted options exercisable at 2 cents each on or before 26 April 2021 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 
Unquoted options exercisable at 4.5 cents each on or before 24 August 2021 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 
Unquoted options exercisable at 2.5 cents each on or before 7 September 2021 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 
Unquoted options exercisable at 2 cents each on or before 30 November 2021 10,000,000 - - - 10,000,000 
Unquoted options exercisable at 10 cents each on or before 5 December 2021 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000 
Unquoted options exercisable at 1.5 cents each on or before 18 March 2022 6,500,000 - - - 6,500,000 
Unquoted options exercisable at 4 cents each on or before 5 June 2022 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 
Unquoted options exercisable at 4 cents each on or before 5 July 2022 7,500,000 - - - 7,500,000 
Unquoted options exercisable at 5 cents each on or before 30 November 2022 10,000,000 - - - 10,000,000 
Unquoted options exercisable at 3.5 cents each on or before 4 June 2023 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 
Unquoted options exercisable at 1.5 cents each on or before 1 December 2024 - 20,000,000 - - 20,000,000 
Unquoted options exercisable at 0.3 cents each on or before 27 April 2023 - 15,000,000 - - 15,000,000 
Quoted options exercisable at 5 cents each on or before 31 May 2021 172,624,545 - - - 172,624,545 
Total 242,624,545 35,000,000 - (8,000,000) 269,624,545 
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  Consolidated 
17. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY AND RESERVES (continued) 

 
2020 

$ 
2019 

$ 
 

 (d) Reserves  10,624,398 10,549,482 
     
 Listed option reserve    
 Balance at beginning of year  1,007,941 1,007,941 
 Proceeds from option issue  - - 
 Balance at end of year  1,007,941 1,007,941 

 
 Share based payments reserve    
 Balance at beginning of year  9,541,541 9,525,980 
 Share based payments expensed to P&L  63,699 15,561 
 Share based payments as part of capital raising cost  11,217 - 
 Balance at end of year  9,616,457 9,541,541 

 
Nature and purpose of reserves 
 Listed option reserve 
This reserve is used to record the proceeds from the issue of listed options, net of expenses of the issue. 
 
Share based payments reserve 
This reserve is used to record the value of equity benefits provided to directors, employees and consultants as part of 
their remuneration. Refer to note 20 for further details. 

   
   Consolidated 
   2020 

$ 
2019 

$ 
18. ACCUMULATED LOSSES    

     
 Balance at the beginning of the year  (56,502,383) (55,157,719) 
 Net loss attributable to members of Magnetite Mines Limited  (373,511) (1,344,664) 
 Balance at the end of the financial year  (56,875,894) (56,502,383) 

    
19. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES   

     
 (i) Exploration commitments   
  Within one year 57,549 1,697,394 
  Later than one year but not later than five years 5,860,000 2,020,000 
  Later than five years - - 
   5,917,549 3,717,394 

 
 In order to maintain current rights of tenure to exploration tenements, the Group is required to perform minimum 

exploration work to meet the minimum expenditure requirements specified by various State Governments. These 
obligations are subject to renegotiation when application for a mining lease is made and at other times. These 
obligations are not provided for in the financial report. 

  
 If the Group decides to relinquish certain tenements and / or does not meet these obligations, assets recognised 

in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position may require review to determine the appropriateness of the 
carrying values. The sole transfer or farm out of exploration rights to third parties will reduce or extinguish these 
obligations. 
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   Consolidated 
   2020 

$ 
2019 

$ 
19. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued)   

     
 (ii) Operating lease commitments   
  Operating lease commitments are as follows:   
  Office rental   
      Within one year 16,090 21,917 
      Later than one year but not later than five years - - 
      Later than five years - - 
   16,090 21,917 
 
 The Group Currently does not have a commercial property lease on its corporate office premises 
     
 (iii) Bonds   
  At 30 June 2020 the Group has outstanding $32,588 (2019: $32,588) as a current bond provided by the 

Company’s bank for corporate office lease. 
     
 (iv) Bank Guarantee 
  At 30 June 2020 the Group has $Nil (2019: $Nil ) guarantees provided by the Company’s bank for corporate office 

lease. The Company has an available bank guarantee limit of $287,412 and currently this facility has not been 
utilised by the Company. 

   
20. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS      

 (a) Type of share based payment plan 
 

  Employee Share Option Plan 
 Options are granted under the Company Option Incentive Plan (OIP) which was approved by the shareholders on  

29 November 2019. The OIP is available to any person who is a director, or an employee (whether full-time or part-
time) of the Company or of an associated body corporate of the Company (“Eligible Person”). 
 
Subject to the Rules set out in OIP and the Listing Rules, the Company (acting through the Board) may offer options to 
any Eligible Person at such time and on such terms as the Board considers appropriate.  
 

 There are no voting or dividend rights attached to the options. There are no voting rights attached to the unissued 
ordinary shares.  Voting rights will be attached to the unissued ordinary shares when the options have been exercised. 
The expense recognised in the income statement in relation to share based payments is disclosed in consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

 
 (b) Summary of directors and employees options granted  
 The following table illustrates the number and weighted average prices (WAEP) of and the movements in directors and 

employees share options issued during the year: 
 

 Number 
2020 

WAEP 
2020  

$ 

Number 
2019 

WAEP 
2019  

$ 
Outstanding at the beginning of the year 52,000,000 0.032 88,300,000 0.04 
Granted during the year 20,000,000 0.015 6,500,000 0.015 
Lapsed during the year (8,000,000) 0.045 - - 
Exercised during the year - - (42,800,000) 0.05 
Outstanding at the end of the year 64,000,000 0.025 52,000,000 0.032 
Exercisable at the end of the year  64,000,000  45,500,000  
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20. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (continued)      

 (i) the weighted average remaining contractual life for the directors and employees options outstanding as at 30 June 
2020 is 1.07 years (2019: 2.19 years); 

(ii) the weighted average exercise price for options outstanding at the end of the year was $0.025 (2019: $0.032); 
(iii) the weighted average exercise price of options granted during the year was $0.015 (2019: $0.015); and 
(iv) the fair value of the equity-settled share options granted under the plan is estimated as at the date of grant using 

a Black-Scholes option pricing model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were 
granted.  

The following table lists the inputs to the model used for the year ended 30 June 2020.  
 
Number of Options 20,000,000 
Option exercise price  1.5 cents 
Expiry date 01/12/2024 
Expected life of the option (years) 5 years 
Vesting period (months) - 
Dividend yield (%) - 
Expected volatility (%) 153% 
Risk-free interest rate (%) 0.78% 
Closing share price at grant date (cents) 0.5 cents 
Grant date 02/12/2019 

 
The following table lists the inputs to the model used for the year ended 30 June 2019. 
 
Number of Options 6,500,000 
Option exercise price  1.5 cents 
Expiry date 18/03/2022 
Expected life of the option (years) 3 years 
Vesting period (months) - 
Dividend yield (%) - 
Expected volatility (%) 149% 
Risk-free interest rate (%) 1.50% 
Closing share price at grant date (cents) 0.6 cents 
Grant date 19/03/2019 

 
 (c) Summary of consultant options granted 
 The following table illustrates the number and weighted average prices (WAEP) of and the movements in consultant 

share options issued during the year: 
 
 2020 

Number 
2020 

WAEP $ 
2019 

Number 
2019 

WAEP $ 
Outstanding at the beginning of the year 18,000,000 0.05 18,000,000 0.05 
Granted during the year - - - - 
Lapsed during the year - - - - 
Exercised during the year - - - - 
Outstanding at the end of the year 18,000,000 0.05 18,000,000 0.05 
Exercisable at the end of the year  18,000,000  18,000,000  

 
(i) the weighted average remaining contractual life for the consultant options outstanding as at 30 June 2020 is 

1.61 years (2019: 2.61 years); 
(ii) the weighted average exercise price for options outstanding at the end of the year was $0.05 (2019: $0.05); 
(iii) the weighted average exercise price of options granted during the year was $Nil (2019: $Nil); and 
(iv) the fair value of the equity-settled share options granted under the plan is estimated as at the date of grant 

using a Black-Scholes option pricing model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options 
were granted. 
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20. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 
 

 (d) Summary of options issued to underwriters 
 The following table illustrates the number and weighted average prices (WAEP) of and the movements in share 

options issued to underwriters as part of capital raising cost during the year: 
 

 2020 
Number 

2020 
WAEP $ 

2019 
Number 

2019 
WAEP $ 

Outstanding at the beginning of the year - - - - 
Granted during the year 15,000,000 0.003 - - 
Lapsed during the year - - - - 
Exercised during the year - - - - 
Outstanding at the end of the year 15,000,000 0.003 - - 
Exercisable at the end of the year  15,000,000  -  

 
(i) the weighted average remaining contractual life for the options issued to underwriters outstanding as at 30 June 

2020 is 2.82 years (2019: Nil); 
(ii) the weighted average exercise price for options outstanding at the end of the year was $0.003 (2019: $Nil); 
(iii) the weighted average exercise price of options granted during the year was $0.003 (2019: $Nil); and 
(iv) the fair value of the equity-settled share options granted under the plan is estimated as at the date of grant 

using a Black-Scholes option pricing model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options 
were granted. 

 
The following table lists the inputs to the model used for the year ended 30 June 2020.  
 
Number of Options 15,000,000 
Option exercise price  0.3 cents 
Expiry date 27/04/2023 
Expected life of the option (years) 3 years 
Vesting period (months) - 
Dividend yield (%) - 
Expected volatility (%) 100% 
Risk-free interest rate (%) 0.26% 
Closing share price at grant date (cents) 0.002 cents 
Grant date 28/04/2020 
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     Consolidated 
   2020 

$ 
2019 

$ 
21. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS    

 The auditor of Magnetite Mines Limited is Stantons International for:    
 • An audit or review of the financial report of the consolidated entity   54,141 42,000 

 
 

  
22. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE DISCLOSURES 

  
 a) Details of directors and key management personnel 
  
 Directors 

P J Schubert  Executive Chairman 
F DeMarte   Executive Director (Resigned on 31 July 2020) 
M R J Randall  Non-Executive Director 
M R Eames   Non-Executive Director (Appointed on 11 March 2020) 
 
Executive 
F DeMarte   Company Secretary & Chief Financial Officer 

 
 

     Consolidated 
   2020 

$ 
2019 

$ 
 (b) Compensation for directors and key management personnel    

     
 Short term employee benefits and termination benefits  254,433 239,048 
 Annual leave provision  8,886 8,886 
 Post-employment benefits  24,171 22,710 
 Other (1)  54,578 - 
 Share based payments  59,988 - 
 Long Service leave  - - 
 Total compensation  402,056 270,644 
     
 Note 1: M R Eames was appointed a director on 11 March 2020. Other fees of $54,578 shown above relates to 

consultancy fees paid to Mr Eames in relation to Razorback project for period 11 March 2020 to 30 June 2020. 
Prior to becoming a non-executive director, Mr Eames was paid a total of $67,578 in shares (13,007,159 shares) 
which relates to period 1 July 2019 to 10 March 2020.  

 
 

 (c) Details of directors and key management personnel 
 There were no loans to key management personnel during the year other than as disclosed in Note 23. 
  
 (d) Other transactions and balances with key management personnel and their related parties 
 Disclosures relating to other transactions and balances with key management personnel are included and 

set out in note 23. 
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23. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 

 (a) Directors 
  
 There were no fees received in the normal course of business in 2020.  

Amounts paid and payable to Ora Gold Limited, in which F DeMarte, M R J Randall are directors and 
shareholders, in the normal course of business in 2019/2020 for admin related costs totalled $259 (2019: $243) 
and the balance included in trade creditors is $Nil (2019: $Nil). Amounts received and receivable from Ora Gold 
Limited in the normal course of business totalled $Nil (2019: $Nil) 

  

 (b) Loans with key management personnel and their related entities 

 There were no loans to key management personnel and their related entities during the year and the prior year. 
  
 (c) Loans from key management personnel and their related entities 
  
 On 16 September 2019, the Company’s Executive Chairman, Peter Schubert, provided the Company with an 

unsecured loan of $200,000 pursuant to a Convertible Loan Agreement to assist the Company with general 
working capital requirements.  Interest was accrued on the Loan at the rate of 5% per annum. Interest which 
accrued on the Loan was capitalised and was payable on the earlier of: 

i. the date on which the Loan is repaid in full; and 
ii. the repayment date. 

The Loan was repayable in cash on the date that is six months after the date of the Convertible Loan (or such 
later date as may be agreed between the parties in writing). The Chairman could elect to convert all or part of 
the Loan and any interest amount into fully paid ordinary shares at the price equal to a 10% discount to the 
VWAP for the 15 Trading Days prior to the date of the conversion notice. The conversion right is subject to and 
conditional upon the Company obtaining the approval of its members in general meeting by the requisite majority 
for the purposes of ASX Listing Rule 10.11 and section 208 of the Corporations Act.  

On 16 March 2020, the parties agreed that the repayment date under the Convertible Loan Agreement was 
extended to 16 September 2020 (or such later date as may be further agreed by the parties in writing). An 
interest payment of $5,123 was paid on 23 March 2020. On 4 May 2020, a partial repayment of $100,000 of this 
loan was made to Peter Schubert. 

On 16 September 2020, the Company repaid the remaining balance of the loan including interest totalling 
$103,151. 

 
 (d) Subsidiaries 
 The Group consists of the Parent and its wholly owned controlled entities set out in Note 9. 

Transactions between the Parent and its wholly owned controlled entities during the year ended 30 June 2020 
is as below. 
 
• Loans advanced to subsidiary, Razorback Iron Pty Ltd total $27,215,406 (2019: $26,877,627) at 30 June 

2020. 
• Loans advanced to subsidiary, Razorback Operations Pty Ltd total $3,383 (2019: $2,520) at 30 June 2020. 
• Loans advanced to subsidiary, Red Dragon Mining Pty Ltd total $2,661 (2019: $2,394) at 30 June 2020. 
• Loans advanced to subsidiary, Ironback Pty Ltd total $3,438,929 (2019: $3,418,479) at 30 June 2020. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

   
24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  

 
(a) The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise of cash, short term deposits and other financial assets. The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as 

trade receivables and trade payables. It is, and has been throughout the period under review, the Group’s policy that no trading in financial instruments shall be undertaken, except 
for other financial assets which have been sold for working capital purposes. The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are cash flow interest rate risk, liquidity 
risk, equity risk and credit risk.  
Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses 
are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in note 2 to the Financial Statements.  

 
                                                               

Floating Interest Rate 
Fixed Interest Rate – less  

than 1 year 
Fixed Interest Rate – more  

than 1 year 
 

Non-interest bearing 
 

Total 
Consolidated 2020 

$ 
2019 

$ 
2020 

$ 
2019 

$ 
2020 

$ 
2019 

$ 
2020 

$ 
2019 

$ 
2020 

$ 
2019 

$ 
           
Financial Assets           
Cash and cash equivalents 303,391 209,959 500,000 - - - 27,481 17,777 830,872 227,736 
Trade and other receivables1 - - 12,588 12,588 - - 42,770 28,355 55,358 40,943 
Other financial assets - - - - - - - - - - 
Total Financial Assets 303,391 209,959 512,588 12,588 - - 70,251 46,132 886,230 268,679 
           

Weighted Average Interest Rate 0.25% 1.25% 0.95% 2%       
           

Financial Liabilities            
Trade and other payables - - - - - - (39,370) (37,801) (39,370) (37,801) 
Unsecured loan - - (102,082) - - - - - (102,082) - 
Convertible loan note liability - - - (2,500,000) (1,975,000) - - - (1,975,000) (2,500,000) 
Total Financial Liabilities - - (102,082) (2,500,000) (1,975,000) - (39,370) (37,801) (2,116,452) (2,537,801) 
Net Financial Assets/(Liabilities) 303,391 209,959 410,506 (2,487,412) (1,975,000) - 30,881 8,331 (1,230,222) (2,269,122) 
           
Weighted Average Interest Rate   5% 7% 5% -     

Note 1: Trade and other receivables excludes prepayments 
 

  

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



MAGNETITE MINES LIMITED 
 

Magnetite Mines Limited – Annual Report 2020                            58 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
 
 

24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

The net fair value of all financial assets and liabilities at balance date approximate to their carrying value. The main risk 
the Group is exposed is through financial instruments credit risk, commodity risk and market risk consisting of interest 
rate risk and equity price risk. 

 
(a) Interest Rate Risk 

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk, which is the risk that a financial instrument’s value will fluctuate as a result of 
changes in market interest rates and the effective weighted average interest rate for each class of financial assets and 
financial liabilities, is disclosed under point (a) above. 
 
The Group is exposed to movements in market interest rates on short term deposits.  The policy is to monitor the interest 
rate yield curve out to 120 days to ensure a balance is maintained between the liquidity of cash assets and the interest 
rate return. 

 
(b) Credit Risk 

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counter party will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the 
Group.  The Group has adopted the policy of only dealing with credit worthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient 
collateral or other security where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. Risk is 
also minimised by investing surplus funds with financial institutions that maintain a high credit rating. 
 
The Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of counterparties 
having similar characteristics.  The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any 
provisions for losses, represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk. 
 
The Group believes that all outstanding receivables are recoverable and there are no past due receivables as at balance 
date. 

 
(c) Net Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities 

The net fair value of the financial assets and financial liabilities approximates their carrying value, except for the fair 
value of equity investments traded on organised markets which have been valued by reference to the market prices 
prevailing at balance date for those equity investments. 

 
(d) Liquidity Risk 

The Group manages its liquidity risk by monitoring its cash reserves and forecast spending. Management is cognisant 
of the future demands for liquid finance requirements to finance the Group’s current and future operations. 
 
The Group believes that all outstanding payables can be paid when due and there are no past due payables as at the 
balance date. 

 
(e) Commodity Price Risk 

At the 30 June 2020, the Group does not have any financial instruments subject to commodity price risk.  

 Consolidated 
Reconciliation of net financial assets/ (liabilities) to net 
assets 

2020 
$ 

2019 
$ 

   

Net Financial Assets/(Liabilities) as above (1,230,222) (2,269,122) 
Prepayments 9,607 6,559 
Property, plant and equipment 27,613 38,858 
Intangibles 107 215 
Exploration & evaluation expenditure 9,500,844 9,117,768 
Accruals (107,188) (165,760) 
Provisions (61,487) (59,728) 
Net Assets per Statement of Financial Position 8,139,274 6,668,790 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
 
 
25. SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS  

 
(a) Interest Rate Risk 

 
The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the Group’s financial assets at the balance 
sheet date on the deficit for the year and equity for a 1% change in interest rates. It is assumed that the change in 
interest rates is held constant throughout the reporting period. 
 
 

Consolidated 
30 June 2020 

Carrying  
Amount $ 

Interest Rate Risk 
-1% 

Interest Rate Risk 
+ 1% 

Net loss 
  $ 

Equity 
 $ 

Net loss 
 $ 

Equity  
$ 

      

Financial Assets      
Cash and cash equivalents 803,391 (8,034) (8,034) 8,034 8,034 
Other receivables 
(interest bearing) 12,588 (126) (126) 126 126 
      

Totals 815,979 (8,160) (8,160) 8,160 8,160 
 

 
 

Consolidated 
30 June 2019 

Carrying  
Amount $ 

Interest Rate Risk 
-1% 

Interest Rate Risk 
+ 1% 

Net loss 
  $ 

Equity 
 $ 

Net loss 
 $ 

Equity  
$ 

      

Financial Assets      
Cash and cash equivalents 209,959 (2,099) (2,099) 2,099 2,099 
Other receivables 
(interest bearing) 12,588 (126) (126) 126 126 
      

Totals 222,547 (2,225) (2,225) 2,225 2,225 
 
None of the Group’s financial liabilities are interest bearing except for the unsecured loan and convertible loan facility 
that accrues interest at 5% per annum (see note 16). These interest bearing loans are at a fixed interest rate agreed 
with the lenders. 

 
 
 

(b) Foreign currency risk 
 
The Group is not exposed to foreign exchange currency risk at balance data.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
 

26. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

As at 30 June 2020, the Company has the following contingent liabilities: 

Agreement with Mintech Resources Pty Ltd 

Pursuant to a Variation Deed dated 11 August 2015, the Company finalised the acquisition of a 100% interest in EL 
6353 (formally EL 5432) covering the Razorback Ridge area.  On 4 September 2019, the Company entered into a 
Heads of Agreement with the liquidators of Mintech Resources Pty Ltd. The terms of the agreement are as follows: 

1) The amended face value of the Redeemable Convertible Notes is $1.975 million (refer to note 16); 
2) Resource payments to Mintech calculated at $0.01 per DTR tonne of measured resources (resource payment 

= tonne of measured resource x $0.01 x [(Average DTR% of Resource tonnes)/100]). DTR means potentially 
recoverable tonnes of magnetite as determined by the Davis Tube Recovery technique; 

3) A Production Payment of $3,000,000 to Mintech within 20 Business Days of the Company receiving payment of 
at least 95% of the purchase price for the first commercial shipment of Product from the tenement; and 

4) A 1% Royalty on the Value of the Product produced from the tenement measured at the “mine gate”. 

Mintech was placed in voluntary administration on 9 October 2017 and subsequently placed in the hands of liquidators 
on 19 April 2019. 

Agreement with Goldus Pty Ltd 

Pursuant to a Variation Deed dated 11 August 2015, the Company has finalised the acquisition of a 100% interest in 
EL6126 and EL6127 (formerly EL 5180 and EL 5240) which surround the Razorback Ridge area. The Company has 
the following obligations: 
 

1) Resource payments to Goldus calculated at $0.01 per DTR tonne of measured resources; 
2) A Production Payment of $3,000,000 to Goldus within 20 Business Days of the Company receiving payment of 

at least 95% of the purchase price for the first commercial shipment of Product from the tenements; and 
3) A 1% Royalty on the Value of the Product produced from the tenement measured at the “mine gate”. 

 
27. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE  

  
 Since the end of the financial year, the Directors are not aware of matter or circumstance not otherwise dealt with in 

this report or the financial statements, that has significantly or may significantly affect the operations of the 
Consolidated Entity, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Consolidated Entity in subsequent 
years with the exception of the following, the financial effects of which have not been provided for in the 30 June 2020 
financial report: 
 
Exercise of Unquoted Options by Underwriter 
On 13 August 2020, the Company issued 15,000,000 ordinary fully paid shares at an issue price of $0.003 per share 
pursuant to the exercise of unquoted options. 
 
Issue of Employee Options 
On 12 August 2020, the Company issued 7,000,000 unquoted options exercisable at $0.015 each with an expiry date 
of 11 August 2023 to eligible employees in accordance with the Company’s Employee Share Option Plan. 
 
Issue of Renounceable Rights Issue Prospectus 
On the 4 September 2020 the Company announced a renounceable pro rata offer to eligible shareholders of one (1) 
new share for every four (4) shares held on the record date at an issue price of $0.01 per new share, together with 
one (1) attaching quoted option for every two (2) new shares subscribed for (exercisable at $0.05 each on or before 
29 October 2021), to raise approximately $5.65 million. The Rights Issue is partially underwritten by Mahe Capital Pty 
Ltd for an amount of $4,000,000. The Rights Issue closes at 5:00pm (WST) on Tuesday, 29 September 2020.   
 
Repayment of Chairman’s loan 
On the 16 September 2020, the Company repaid the remaining balance including interest in relation to the Chairman’s 
unsecured loan totalling $103,151 
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In accordance with a resolution of the directors of Magnetite Mines Limited I state that: 
 
In the opinion of the directors: 
 
(a) the financial statements and notes and the additional disclosures included in the Directors’ report 

designated as audited, of the Consolidated Entity are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 
including: 
 
(i) giving a true and fair view of the Consolidated Entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of 

its performance for the year ended on that date; and 
 
(ii) complying with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 
 

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
become due and payable. 
 

(c) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as described in note 
2(a). 

 
This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the directors in accordance 
with section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the financial year ended 30 June 2020. 
 
On behalf of the Board 
 
 

 
 
PETER SCHUBERT 
Executive Director 
 
Perth, Western Australia 
 
Dated in Perth this 24th of September 2020 
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The following information dated 14 September 2020 is required by the Listing Rules of the ASX Limited. 
 

1. DISTRIBUTION AND NUMBER OF HOLDER OF EQUITY SECURITIES 

The number of holders, by size of holding, in each class of security are: 

 

Distribution Number of 
Shareholders Number of Shares 

1 – 1,000 472 162,632 

1,001 – 5,000 518 1,362,900 

5,001 – 10,000 207 1,670,081 

10,001 – 100,000 2,056 106,728,265 

100,001 and over 1,854 2,151,117,377 

Totals 5,107 2,261,041,255 

Holding less than a marketable parcel 2,064 27,238,504 
 
2. TWENTY LARGEST HOLDERS OF QUOTED SECURITIES 

(a) Ordinary Shares 
 

 

Holder 

Shares Held 

Number % 
    

1 National Nominees Limited 272,164,585 12.04 

2 Mango Bay Enterprises Incorporated  45,065,000 1.99 

3 Matthew Burford Superfund Pty Ltd 40,000,000 1.77 

4 Coffee House Group Limited   36,326,509 1.61 

5 Mr Michael Maynard 33,042,669 1.46 

6 J P Morgan Nominees Australia Pty Limited 32,951,764 1.46 

7 Mr Mark Richard Eames 32,078,609 1.42 

8 Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 30,374,456 1.34 

9 Chin Nominees Pty Ltd 29,597,326 1.31 

10 Mr Siat Yoon Chin 25,825,000 1.14 

11 N K C Pty Ltd 25,000,000 1.11 

12 Ragged Range Mining Pty Ltd & Associates 23,344,994 1.03 

13 Mr Siat Yoon Chin 22,500,000 1.00 

14 Mr Corey Alan Amos 22,126,331 0.98 

15 Mr Terrence Chivers 21,903,595 0.97 

16 GJ & MM Sullivan Pty Ltd 21,107,146 0.93 

17 Mr Robert Steel Renton 21,000,000 0.93 

18 Ms Pamela Joy Bates 20,000,000 0.88 

19 Comsec Nominees Pty Limited 18,693,535 0.83 

20 Renique Holdings Pty Ltd 14,470,452 0.64 

Total 787,571,971 34.83 

Total remaining holders 1,473,469,284 65.17 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



MAGNETITE MINES LIMITED 
 

ASX ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

Magnetite Mines Limited – Annual Report 2020               68 

 

(b) Quoted Options expiring on 31 May 2021 exercisable at $0.05 each 
 

 

Holder 

Shares Held 

Number % 
1 National Nominees Limited 21,024,172 12.18 

2 Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 11,610,041 6.73 

3 Mr Michael Craig Maynard 4,516,667 2.62 

4 Dr Senthil Kumar Govindasamy 4,000,000 2.32 

5 Mr Benoit Christophe Stocker 4,000,000 2.32 

6 Rookharp Capital Pty Limited 3,500,000 2.03 

7 Martin Place Securities Nominees Pty Ltd 3,244,533 1.88 

8 Mr Daniel James Searle 3,000,000 1.74 

9 Miss Man Yee Wong 2,970,792 1.72 

10 Mr Adam Daniel Clarke 2,610,517 1.51 

11 Mr Henry Ramon Dawson 2,500,000 1.45 

12 Miss Nutcha Wonginphor 2,500,000 1.45 

13 Mr James Sovolos 2,500,000 1.45 

14 Mr Gayan Sandamal Wedagedara 2,500,000 1.45 

15 Miss Stephanie Terese Friel 2,108,334 1.22 

16 Chancery Holdings Pty Ltd  2,000,000 1.16 

17 Mr James Moraitis 1,850,000 1.07 

18 Morsec Nominees Pty Ltd 1,799,998 1.04 

19 Mrs Gloria Maria Phong 1,666,667 0.97 

19 Sarto Pty Ltd 1,666,667 0.97 

19 Mr Domenico Giuseppe Zappia 1,666,667 0.97 

Total 83,235,055 48.22 

Total remaining holders 89,389,490 51.78 

 

3. SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS 

An extract from the Company’s register of substantial shareholders is set out below: 

Name Number of Shares Held % 

National Nominees Limited 272,164,585 12.04 
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4. VOTING RIGHTS 

The Company’s share capital is of one class with the following voting rights: 

(a)  Ordinary Shares 

On a show of hands every shareholder presents in person or by proxy shall have one vote and 
upon a poll each share shall have one vote. 

(b)  Options 

The Company’s options have no voting rights. 

5. STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING 

Magnetite Mines Limited ordinary shares are listed on all member exchanges of the ASX Limited. 

The home exchange is the ASX Limited. 

6. RESTRICTED SECURITIES 

There are no ordinary shares on issue that have been classified by the ASX Limited, Perth as 
restricted securities. 

7. SCHEDULE OF TENEMENTS 

Tenement 
Name Location 

Tenement 
Number and 

Type 
Holder/ 

Application 
Share 
Held Status 

Razorback SA EL6126 MGT 100 Granted 17/09/17 
Razorback SA EL6127 MGT 100 Granted 10/12/17 
Razorback SA EL6353 MGT 100 Granted 22/06/19 
Razorback SA EL5902 MGT 100 Granted 01/12/16 
Sister’s Dam SA EL6037 MGT 100 Granted 02/11/17 
 
 
Key to Tenement Type 
EL    =    Exploration Licence 
 
Key to Holders 
MGT =    Magnetite Mines Limited 
 
Location 
SA   =    South Australia 
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